

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Stehrer, Robert

Working Paper The Effects of Factor- and Sector-biased Technical Change Revisited

wiiw Working Paper, No. 35

Provided in Cooperation with:

The Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies (wiiw) - Wiener Institut für Internationale Wirtschaftsvergleiche (wiiw)

Suggested Citation: Stehrer, Robert (2005) : The Effects of Factor- and Sector-biased Technical Change Revisited, wiiw Working Paper, No. 35, The Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies (wiiw), Vienna

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/203900

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU



Wiener Institut für Internationale Wirtschaftsvergleiche

The Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies

wiiw Working Papers | 35

Robert Stehrer

The Effects of Factor- and Sector-biased Technical Change Revisited

September 2005

wiiw Working Papers published so far:

No. 1

March 1993 A. Bhaduri: Patterns of Economic Transition and Structural Adjustments. February 1994 No 2 No. 3 E. Dzwonik-Wrobel and J. Zieba: Money Supply and Money Demand in Poland, 1990-1992. July 1994 A. Bhaduri, K. Laski and M. Riese: Fallacies in Aggregate Demand/Supply Analysis, July 1994 No. 4 No. 5 A. Bhaduri, K. Laski and M. Riese: Making Sense of the Aggregate Demand-Supply Model. March 1995 A. Bhaduri: Reflections on the Economic Role of the Transformational State. December 1995 No. 6 No. 7 M. Landesmann and R. Stehrer: Industrial Specialization, Catching-Up and Labour Market Dynamics. January 1997 No. 8 J. Fersterer and M. Landesmann: Vertical Product Differentiation in International Trade: An Econometric Investigation. April 1998 A. Bhaduri, K. Laski and M. Riese: Effective Demand versus Profit Maximization in Aggregate No 9 Demand/Supply Analysis from a Dynamic Perspective. November 1998 No. 10 M. Landesmann and R. Stehrer: The European Unemployment Problem: A Structural Approach. March 1999 No. 11 R. Stehrer, M. Landesmann and J. Burgstaller: Convergence Patterns at the Industrial Level: the Dynamics of Comparative Advantage. October 1999 K. Laski: Three Ways to . . . High Unemployment. January 2000 No 12 No. 13 F. Turnovec: A Leontief-type Model of Ownership Structures. Methodology and Implications. April 2000 No. 14 M. Landesmann and R. Stehrer: Potential Switchovers in Comparative Advantage: Patterns of Industrial Convergence. June 2000 R. Stehrer: Industrial Specialization, Trade, and Labour Market Dynamics in a Multisectoral Model of No. 15 Technological Progress. January 2001; revised version February 2002 No. 16 K. Laski and R. Römisch: Growth and Savings in USA and Japan. July 2001 P. Egger and R. Stehrer: International Outsourcing and the Skill-Specific Wage Bill in Eastern Europe. No. 17 July 2001 R. Stehrer: Expenditure Levels, Prices and Consumption Patterns in a Cross-Section of Countries. No. 18 August 2001 No. 19 R. Stehrer and J. Wörz: Technological Convergence and Trade Patterns. October 2001 No 20 M. Landesmann, R. Stehrer and S. Leitner: Trade Liberalization and Labour Markets: Perspective from OECD Economies. October 2001 No. 21 E. Christie: Potential Trade in South-East Europe: A Gravity Model Approach. March 2002 No. 22 M. Landesmann and R. Stehrer: Technical Change, Effective Demand and Economic Growth. April 2002 R. Stehrer and J. Wörz: Industrial Diversity, Trade Patterns and Productivity Convergence. November 2002; No. 23 revised version July 2003 No 24 E. Christie: Foreign Direct investment in Southeast Europe: a Gravity Model Approach. March 2003 No. 25 J. Wörz: Skill Intensity in Foreign Trade and Economic Growth. November 2003; revised version January 2004 No 26 M. Landesmann and R. Stehrer: Global Growth Processes: Technology Diffusion, Catching-up and Effective Demand, January 2004 M. Landesmann and R. Stehrer: Modelling International Economic Integration: Patterns of Catching-up, No. 27 Foreign Direct Investment and Migration Flows. March 2004 No. 28 L. Podkaminer: Assessing the Demand for Food in Europe by the Year 2010. March 2004 No. 29 U. Dulleck, N. Foster, R. Stehrer and J. Wörz: Dimensions of Quality Upgrading in CEECs. April 2004 No 30 R. Stehrer: Can Trade Explain the Sector Bias of Skill-biased Technical Change? May 2004 No. 31 M. Landesmann and R. Stehrer: Income Distribution, Technical Change and the Dynamics of International Economic Integration. September 2004

K. Laski et al.: Transition from the Command to the Market System: what went wrong and what to do now?

- No. 32 A. Hildebrandt and J. Wörz: Determinants of Industrial Location Patterns in CEECs. November 2004
- No. 33 K. Laski: Macroeconomics versus 'Common Sense'. December 2004
- No. 34 V. Astrov, Sectoral Productivity, Demand, and Terms of Trade: What Drives the Real Appreciation of the East European Currencies? April 2005
- No. 35 R. Stehrer: The Effects of Factor- and Sector-biased Technical Change Revisited. September 2005

Robert Stehrer is Research Economist at wiiw and lecturer in economics at Johannes Kepler University, Linz, Austria.

Research was financed by Oesterreichische Nationalbank through Jubiläumsfonds Project No. 10202. Robert Stehrer

The Effects of Factorand Sector-biased Technical Change Revisited

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	1			
2	Technical change and relative factor prices in a closed economy					
	2.1	A multi-sectoral framework	3			
		2.1.1 Consumers and producers	3			
		2.1.2 Typology of technical change	4			
		2.1.3 Factor endowment and equilibrium	6			
	2.2	The effects of factor- and sector-biased technical change	7			
		2.2.1 Sector-biased technical change	8			
		2.2.2 Sector- and factor-biased technical change	9			
3	Effe	cts of technical change in trading economies	14			
	3.1	The model for trading economies	14			
	3.2	The effects of sector- and factor-biased technical progress in the domestic and foreign				
		economy				
		3.2.1 A special case	17			
		3.2.2 Sector-biased technical change	17			
		3.2.3 Factor- and sector-biased technical change	19			
4	Con	cluding remarks	21			
\mathbf{A}	App	pendix	22			
	A.1	Cost-reducing criterion	22			
	A.2	Closed economy	22			
	A.3	Trading economies	23			
		A.3.1 Demand structure	23			
		A.3.2 Equilibrium condition	23			
		A.3.3 Changes in the factor-augmenting parameters	24			
Re	efere	nces	25			

Abstract

In the trade-technology-wage debate, the effects of the various forms of technical progress on relative factor prices have been addressed in a number of contributions over the past decade. However, the existing literature is far from conclusive. The various contributions either relied on specific assumptions, such as Leontief technologies or Cobb-Douglas demand, that were decisive for the respective conclusions, or they used a more general framework, arriving at ambiguous results in many cases. In this paper we analyse a general equilibrium framework with CES production and CES demand functions, which allows for any discrete number of sectors and countries integrated via trade flows. Technologies are country- and sector-specific and endowment structures differ across countries. The necessary and sufficient conditions under which the relative wage rates are rising or falling in the domestic and foreign economies are derived. This is done for various types of factor- and sector-biased technical change taking place in a particular sector in either the home or foreign country. The conditions - depending on the relative skill intensity of the innovating sector, the elasticities of substitution in demand and supply, the relative factor endowment and the prevailing (equilibrium) relative wage rate - allow for straightforward economic interpretations. This permits to solve the cases classified as ambiguous in the existing literature and provides clear-cut conditions which are important for modelling and empirical research. Furthermore, the results are interpreted with respect to recent empirical studies where special emphasis is given to the sector-biased versus factor-biased hypotheses.

Keywords: factor prices, technical change, trade, multi-sector and multi-country model

JEL classification: C62, C68, F16, O33

The effects of factor- and sector-biased technical change revisited

1 Introduction

The literature on the labour market effects of technical change in closed and open economies has grown substantially over the past decade. At the beginning the debate focused primarily on the impact of trade (mainly with developing countries) on the relative wage of skilled workers in the advanced countries (see e.g. Wood, 1997; Leamer, 1998). In the course of this debate, (mainly empirical) research (for an overview see Acemoglu, 2002b) soon centered on the relative importance of trade integration versus (factor- or sector-biased) technical progress in closed and open economies in explaining the rising wage differential between skilled and unskilled workers in the advanced economies, particularly the US. The importance of technical change is also emphasized in more recent empirical but also theoretical contributions, which focus in particular on the role of different types of technical progress, i.e. sector or factor bias of technical change. For instance, Haskel and Slaughter (2002) argue that it is mainly the sector bias of skill-biased technical change that matters, whereas e.g. Acemoglu (2002b) emphasizes the factor bias (skill bias) and explains the rising wage differential by an acceleration of this type of technical change. Of course, the issue of the impact of technology and technical change has a long tradition in the economic analysis of trade and and welfare, dating back to Ricardo at least. But, as opposed to the endowment-based theories, that issue has gained momentum in the past decade (see e.g. Trefler, 1993). In the more recent literature the effects of changes in technology are discussed (see e.g. Dixit and Norman, 1980, for an overview). While these contributions address mainly the effects on trade and utility, they do not discuss the effects on relative factor prices - which is the main topic to be dealt with in this paper. The results of that literature are, however, not encouraging: the effects of technical change on welfare are foound to be ambiguous for the home as well as for the foreign country and seemingly no general propositions can be derived (see also Findlay and Grubert, 1959). Similarly, the results from the debate of the effects of technical change on relative factor prices - to which we turn next in more detail - are, as already mentioned, not conclusive either.¹

The theoretical results on the effects of technical change in closed and in (large) trading economies depend heavily on specific parameter assumptions in production and demand functions and the particular type of technical progress considered (e.g. factor-biased vs. sector-biased, local versus global, etc.). Haskel and Slaughter (2002) mention a number of studies and conclude that '... different studies have examined very different cases [and] general conclusions should not be made from any single study.' (p. 1765). Let us mention two of those studies which are relevant for this paper.² Recently, Xu (2001) analysed a $2 \times 2 \times 2$ -model with different types of factor-augmenting (which is related to the Hicksian typology) technical change which clarifies this discussion to some extent. Although his results shed some light on the theoretical debate, some questions still remain unsolved. *First*, the effects analysed by Xu (2001) are in most cases ambiguous, particularly so for large trading economies. An even more detailed study seems thus to be necessary to further clarify the results. This is the main topic of the present paper. *Second*, from an empirical as well as modelling point of view it is important to see whether the analysis can be

¹Other recent contributions go beyond the trade versus technology question and also introduce, e.g., market structures (Neary, 2003), outsourcing (e.g. Feenstra and Hanson, 2001), firm size structures (e.g. Dinopolous et al., 2001), etc., which are not discussed here.

 $^{^{2}}$ One has to mention that both papers use a more general form of the production function as we will do.

extended beyond the two-sectors and two-countries framework. The model used below shows in which way this problem can be tackled. This is important as some catching-up countries do quite well in specific sectors (e.g. the skill-intensive sectors) in terms of productivity convergence, which has quite different implications on the relative wage rate in the advanced economies. Zhu and Trefler (2005) study a model with a continuum of goods where two seminal contributions (Dornbusch et al., 1977, 1980) are merged. This model includes factor endowment differences as well as technological differences between countries. However, in this contribution the restrictive case of a Cobb-Douglas demand structure is assumed which - as we shall argue below - may have specific implications. Further, it is also restricted to the case of just two trading economies where only a particular type of technical change in the 'South' (productivity growth is equal across all sectors) is analysed.

In the present paper we introduce a framework similar to that used in the latter contribution, but we apply it to a discrete number of sectors instead of a continuum of goods and extend it to allow for a discrete number of trading economies. It should be emphasized that the model allows simultanously for differences in technologies, i.e. not only for differences in total factor productivity, as well as for differences in factor endowments, and thus goes beyond the standard frameworks based either on differences in productivity levels (Ricardo) or factor endowments (Heckscher-Ohlin).

In line with the contribution by Xu (2001) we analyse the effects of technical change on relative wages for various combinations of parameter values (especially assuming different elasticities of substitution in demand and in production) and different types of technical change.³ For this model we shall derive exact criteria under which the skill premium will rise. These conditions depend on the skill intensity of the innovating sector, the elasticities of substitution in production and demand, the relative wage bill in the economy and the relative factor supply, and allow for an economic interpretation. In particular, the framework also allows to pinpoint the effects of technical change in specific sectors which are characterized by their relative skill intensity in both the advanced and less advanced economies. In this way the model allows to analyse the effects of different catching-up patterns of countries (see e.g. Stehrer and Woerz, 2003, on this).

The paper is structured as follows: In section 2 we introduce the model for a closed economy and derive the above-mentioned criteria. In this section we also discuss the types of technical change, which can be modelled using a CES production function. The framework is then extended to a multi-country model in section 3. Again, we derive criteria which allow to analyse the effects of the various forms of technical change taking place in the domestic or a foreign economy and study the effects on relative factor prices in the innovating and the other economies. We pay particular attention to those cases that are empirically relevant, i.e. skill-biased technical change and cases that provide a potential explanation for increasing relative wages. The final section concludes.

³In this paper we focus exclusively on the effects of relative factor prices and do not analyse welfare effects as is common in the relevant literature. Preliminary numerical studies suggest that technical change has positive welfare effects on either total welfare or welfare of skills and labour in most cases; there are however some noteable exceptions to this which deserve further research. The factors underlying these differences in welfare effects by skill types are the results on relative factor prices studied in this paper.

2 Technical change and relative factor prices in a closed economy

Let us now introduce the framework for a closed economy. Here we basically follow Zhu and Trefler (2005) but - instead of assuming a continuum of goods - we formulate the model for a discrete number of sectors i = 1, ..., N which allows to generalize the latter contribution by introducing a CES demand structure. On the other hand, the results are comparable to those presented in Xu (2001) for the integrated economy but, first, allow for any discrete number of goods and, second, enable us to specify conditions for a rising relative wage rate in the cases that remain ambiguous in Xu (2001). We shall extend this framework to a discrete number of countries in section 3.

2.1 A multi-sectoral framework

2.1.1 Consumers and producers

Consumers maximize a CES utility function denoted by $U = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N} \beta_i q_i^{\varrho}\right)^{1/\varrho}$ with $0 < \beta_i < 1$, $\sum_{i=1}^{N} \beta_i = 1$, and $-\infty < \varrho < 1$. For $\varrho \to 0$ the CES utility function collapses to a Cobb-Douglas utility function $U = \prod_{i=1}^{N} q_i^{\beta_i}$. Under the assumption that consumers maximize utility, the nominal expenditure shares for each good are given by

$$\gamma_i = p_i^{1-\varsigma} \beta_i^{\varsigma} / \sum_{j=1}^N p_j^{1-\varsigma} \beta_j^{\varsigma}$$

$$(2.1)$$

satisfying the constraints $0 < \gamma_i < 1$ (for N > 1) and $\sum_i \gamma_i = 1$. The parameter $\varsigma := 1/(1-\varrho)$ with $0 < \varsigma < \infty$ denotes the elasticity of substitution between the good $i = 1, \ldots, N$. For $\varsigma \to 1$ (or equivalently $\varrho \to 0$ in the utility function) the expenditure shares become constant $\gamma_i = \beta_i$ as can be seen from equation (2.1).

Firms face a CES production function with two inputs skills, l_{iS} , and labour, l_{iL} , denoted by

$$q_i = A_i [\alpha_{iL} (a_{iL} l_{iL})^{\rho} + \alpha_{iS} (a_{iS} l_{iS})^{\rho}]^{1/\rho}$$

where l_{iz} , z = L, S denote the amount of labour and skilled workers used in the production of good i, respectively.⁴ $A_i > 0$ denotes total factor productivity, $a_{iz} > 0$ are the factor-augmenting parameters and we refer to $0 < \alpha_{iz} < \text{with } \sum_{z} \alpha_{iz} = 1$ as share parameters. ρ determines the elasticity of substitution between the two factors with $\sigma = 1/(1 - \rho)$ being the elasticity of production. The production function is homogenous of degree one (i.e. constant returns to scale). We shall refer to the parameters A_i, a_{iz} and α_{iz} to distinguish between different types of technical change below. As commonly known, this CES function collapses for $\rho \to 0$ to the Cobb-Douglas case (with elasticity of substitution equal to one) $q_i = A_i(a_{iL}l_{iL})^{\alpha_{iL}}(a_{iS}l_{iS})^{\alpha_{iS}}$; for $\rho \to -\infty$, i.e. no factor substitution taking place, the production function is of the Leontief type $q_i = A_i \min\{a_{iS}l_{iS}, a_{iL}l_{iL}\}$. We have written this function in a general way, i.e. including both the parameters α_{iz} and a_{iz} for reasons which will become clear below. The two factors receive a nominal wage rate of $w_z, z = L, S$, respectively. We take the nominal wage rate of labour as $n \hat{u}meraire$, i.e. $w_L = 1$. The relative wage rate of the skilled workers is thus equal to their nominal wage rate as $\omega := w_S/w_L = w_S$. Using the nominal wage rate of labour as $n \hat{u}meraire$, i.e. $w_L = 1$ the

⁴The usage of a CES production function is restrictive in some sense but it is easy to handle and straightforward conditions can be derived. The results may also hold for more general production functions (for which the elasticity of substitution is not constant) but then the results would have to be interpreted 'locally'.

relative wage can also be referred to as the 'skill premium'. Given the wage rates the cost-minimizing firms choose the amount of labour and skills per unit of output. Straightforward calculations yield that these input coefficients are given by

$$\tilde{a}_{iS} = \omega^{-\sigma} A_i^{-1} \alpha_{iS}^{\sigma} a_{iS}^{\sigma-1} B_i^{\sigma/(1-\sigma)}$$
(2.2a)

$$\tilde{a}_{iL} = A_i^{-1} \alpha_{iL}^{\sigma} a_{iL}^{\sigma-1} B_i^{\sigma/(1-\sigma)}$$
(2.2b)

with $B_i := (\alpha_{iL}^{\sigma} a_{iL}^{\sigma-1} + \omega^{1-\sigma} \alpha_{iS}^{\sigma} a_{iS}^{\sigma-1})$. Under the assumption of cost-minimization the ratio of skills to labour in industry *i*, i.e. the skill intensity, is given by

$$\tilde{a}_i := \frac{\tilde{a}_{iS}}{\tilde{a}_{iL}} = \omega^{-\sigma} \left(\frac{\alpha_{iS}}{\alpha_{iL}}\right)^{\sigma} \left(\frac{a_{iS}}{a_{iL}}\right)^{\sigma-1}$$

where $\tilde{a}_{iz}, z = S, L$ denotes the input of skills or labour per unit of output. The ratios of the cost shares of the factors in production of good *i*, i.e. θ_{iz} , are then given by

$$\theta_i := \frac{\theta_{iS}}{\theta_{iL}} = \omega \tilde{a}_i = \omega^{1-\sigma} \left(\frac{\alpha_{iS}}{\alpha_{iL}}\right)^{\sigma} \left(\frac{a_{iS}}{a_{iL}}\right)^{\sigma-1}$$

Under the non-profit condition prices equal unit costs, i.e. $p_i = \tilde{a}_{iS}w_S + \tilde{a}_{iL}w_L$. Inserting for the labour input coefficients \tilde{a}_{iz} and using $w_S = \omega$ the price of good *i* is given by

$$p_i = A_i^{-1} B_i^{1/(1-\sigma)}.$$
(2.3)

This equation expresses prices as a function of technological parameters and the relative wage rate.

2.1.2 Typology of technical change

In the literature the most widely used definitions of technical progress are Hicks-neutral (or non-neutral, i.e. labour-using/saving or skill-using/saving) technical progress (see Hicks, 1932) and labour-versus skill-augmenting (dating back to Harrod, 1942). From a modelling point of view the factor-augmenting definition is most useful as this is related to a change in parameter values a_{iz} . However, for a proper interpretation of the results, the Hicksian definitions are more useful. Let us therefore briefly summarize these definitions for the CES production function used in this paper. Technical progress is factor-augmenting if it raises output in the same way as does an increase in the supply (use) of this factor. In general, the production function in this case takes the form $Y = f(l_L, a_S(t)l_S)$ for skill-augmenting and $Y = f(a_L(t)l_L, l_S)$ for labour-augmenting technical progress (see Harrod, 1942; Robinson, 1938; Uzawa, 1961). On the other hand, technical progress is classified as Hicks-neutral if the ratio of marginal products remains unchanged for a given factor input ratio (see Hicks, 1932). This corresponds to the case in which the factor intensity \tilde{a}_i remains constant at a fixed relative wage rate ω . Thus, Hicks-neutral technical progress is of the form $Y = A(t)f(l_L, l_S)$. If the factor intensity remains not constant at a constant relative wage rate then technical progress is defined as either skill-saving (labour-using) or labour-saving (skill-using) if the skill intensity is falling or rising, respectively. As pointed out in Xu (2001) in a more general way there are some relationships between these definitions of technical progress. These are summarized with respect to the CES production function specified above in table 2.1. A change in total factor productivity A_i is Hicks-neutral irrespective of the elasticity of substitution between the two factors. In the Cobb-Douglas case, i.e. $\sigma = 1$, a change in total factor productivity A_i or a change in any of the factor-augmenting

Variable	$\sigma < 1$	$\sigma = 1$	$\sigma > 1$
$\Delta A_i > 0$	Hicks neutral	Hicks neutral	Hicks neutral
$\overline{\Delta a_{iS} > 0}$	Labour using	Hicks neutral	Skill using
	Skill augmenting		Skill augmenting
$\Delta a_{iL} > 0$	Skill using	Hicks neutral	Labour using
	Labour augmenting		Labour augmenting
$\overline{\Delta \alpha_{iS} > 0}$	Skill using	Skill using	Skill using
$\Delta \alpha_{iL} > 0$	Labour using	Labour using	Labour using

Table 2.1: Correspondences between types of technical progress

parameters a_{iz} is Hicks-neutral. As can be seen above, the input ratio \tilde{a}_i and cost share ratio θ_i in this case depend only on the relative wage rate and the parameters α_{iz} . Only a change in the share parameters α_{iz} would imply a biased technical progress in the Hicksian sense as indicated in table 2.1.⁵

A change in the factor-augmenting parameters a_{iz} , however, must be interpreted more carefully when related to the Hicksian definitions of technical change. As can be seen from the expression for the skill intensity \tilde{a}_i an increase of the parameter a_{iS} , i.e. skill-augmenting technical change, is labour-using if $\sigma < 1$, Hicks-neutral if $\sigma = 1$ (as already mentioned) and skill-using if $\sigma > 1$, i.e. the Hicksian classification depends on the elasticity of substitution. When $\sigma < 1$ the elasticity of substitution is low (in the extreme case the two factors become perfect complements) which explains why in the presence of skill-augmenting technical change there is higher relative demand for labour. On the other hand, if $\sigma > 1$ skills and labour are more substitutable and skill-augmenting technical change leads a relative increase of skills. In analogy, this can be applied to an increase in the labour-augmenting parameter a_{iL} . Finally, a change in the intensity parameters α_{iz} would always be factor-biased as indicated in table 2.1.⁶ The ratio of the cost shares θ_i at constant factor prices is constant if technical progress is Hicks-neutral, rising if technical progress is skill-using, and falling if technical progress is of the labour-using type. Acemoglu (2002b), who provides a similar analysis⁷ notes that most empirical studies show that $\sigma \geq 1$. Further, there seems ample evidence that technical change was skill-biased in the last decades (see Acemoglu, 2002b, for an overview) which corresponds to an increase in a_{iS} and $\sigma > 1$.

Finally let us note that an increase of either a_{iS} or a_{iL} is cost-reducing in any case at constant factor prices which allows to assume that the innovation is actually introduced. This is shown in appendix section A.1.

⁵This is one reason why we have explicitly included the parameters α_{iz} in the production function; else these parameters would implicitly assumed to be $\alpha_{iz} = 0.5$.

⁶In this context, it is worth noting that care has to be taken when comparing different contributions of the recent literature. For example, Haskel and Slaughter (2002) use a production function which - in our notation - sets $a_{iz} = 1$ and thus considers only changes in the skill intensity parameters α_{iz} . On the other hand, Xu (2001), Zhu and Trefler (2005), and Davis (1998) use a functional form in which only the factor-augmenting parameters a_{iz} are included.

⁷In this paper, however, the demand side effects of a change in technological parameters are not taken into account and the analysis of the effects of technical change is restricted to changes in the production function and relative endowment. Furthermore, the paper provides reasons to explain the skill-biased nature of technical change (see also Acemoglu, 2002a, on this).

2.1.3 Factor endowment and equilibrium

The economy is endowed with labour h_L and skills h_S ; the relative factor endowment of skills will be denoted by $h := h_S/h_L$. The factor market clearing conditions are $h_z = \sum_{i=1}^N \tilde{a}_{iz}q_i$. Using the full employment assumption total income $Y = \omega h_S + h_L = h_L(\omega h + 1)$.

The equilibrium relative wage rate ω can then be derived in the following way. Calculating employment rates (i.e. labour demand over supply) for skills and labour and setting the difference to zero yields the equilibrium relative wage rate. These employment rates can be written as

$$E_{S} = \frac{1}{h_{S}} \sum_{i=1}^{N} l_{iS} = \frac{1}{h_{S}} \sum_{i=1}^{N} q_{i}\tilde{a}_{iS} = \frac{Y}{h_{S}} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\gamma_{i}}{p_{i}} \tilde{a}_{iS}$$
$$E_{L} = \frac{1}{h_{L}} \sum_{i=1}^{N} l_{iL} = \frac{1}{h_{L}} \sum_{i=1}^{N} q_{i}\tilde{a}_{iL} = \frac{Y}{h_{S}} h \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\gamma_{i}}{p_{i}} \tilde{a}_{iL}.$$

Inserting for $\gamma_i, p_i, \tilde{a}_{iz}$ from equations (2.1), (2.3) and (2.2) expresses them as functions of preference parameters, technological parameters and the relative wage rate. In equilibrium the condition $E(\omega) := E_S(\omega) - E_L(\omega) = 0$ has to be satisfied. This implies that the employment rates are equal for labour and skills. Full employment in absolute terms for both factors is then assured by inserting ω^* into the expression for $Y = h_L(\omega h + 1)$. As Y and h_S are positive numbers the equilibrium condition can be rewritten as

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\gamma_i}{p_i} \tilde{a}_{iS} = h \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\gamma_i}{p_i} \tilde{a}_{iL}.$$
(2.4)

It can be shown that a unique and Walrasian stable equilibrium always exists if $\sigma > 0$. For a Leontief technology (i.e. $\sigma = 0$) such an equilibrium may not exist at all. Rewriting the equilibrium condition yields $\sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\gamma_i}{p_i} \tilde{a}_{iS} / \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\gamma_i}{p_i} \tilde{a}_{iL} = h$. The lhs of this equality may be referred to as relative demand curve D and the rhs as the relative supply curve S, respectively. The latter would be a vertical in a diagram with the relative wage on the vertical and the relative demand and supply at the horizontal axis. Such relative supply and demand curves are used e.g. in Wood (1997) for analysing the employment effects of shifts in trade patterns, and in Acemoglu (2002b) to analyse the effects of skill-biased technical change. For further exposition we shall however use equation 2.4 and shall refer to the lhs simply as DEMAND CURVE and to the rhs as SUPPLY CURVE. It can be shown that the demand curve is strongly monotonically downward sloping with ω . This reflects substitution processes in production and demand, i.e. a higher relative wage rates of skills implies that relatively less skills are demanded as this factor and the relatively more skill-intensive goods becomes more expensive. The supply curve is upward sloping for a wide range of parameters. However, it may become vertical or even downward sloping as well depending on the specific values of the elasticity of substitution in production and demand. In this case it can be shown that $\frac{dD}{d\omega} < \frac{dS}{d\omega}$, which implies Walrasian stability also in this case. Note that in all cases the RELATIVE demand curve as described above is thus downward sloping.

Changes in technological parameters shift (rotate) the curves right or left (clockwise or counterclockwise). It is clear that a simultanous shift of the supply curve to the left and of the demand curve to the right implies an increase in the equilibrium relative wage rate (and a decrease in the other case). This situation is graphically presented in panel 1 of figure 2.1. If both curves are shifting into the same direction due to a change in a technological parameter, the effect on the relative wage rate becomes ambiguous. Assume that both curves shift to the right: The equilibrium wage rate rises if the shift of



Figure 2.1: Relative demand and supply curves

the demand curve is - at the initial equilibrium wage rate - larger than the shift of the supply curve (this situation is shown in panel 2 of figure 2.1). Formally this can be expressed as $\frac{\partial D}{\partial X} > \frac{\partial S}{\partial X}$ where X denotes any technological parameter A_i, a_{iz} or α_{iz} . If both curves shift to the left, the supply curve must change relatively more (in absolute terms) compared to the demand curve to ensure a rising relative wage rate. As both derivatives with respect to the parameter X are negative in this case, the condition is again $\frac{\partial D}{\partial X} > \frac{\partial S}{\partial X}$. We shall use this inequality to analyse the effects of changes in technological parameters on the relative wage rate. Finally, the equilibrium condition (2.4) shows that a change in the size of the economy which keeps the relative endowment h constant has no effect on the wage rate; a rising relative endowment of skills shifts the supply curve to the right whereas the demand curve remains stable, which implies a declining relative wage rate.

2.2 The effects of factor- and sector-biased technical change

Inserting for γ_i , \tilde{a}_{iz} , p_i , from equations (2.1), (2.2), and (2.3) in equation (2.4) expresses the equilibrium condition as a function of preference parameters, technological parameters, the relative wage rate, and relative factor endowment, i.e.

$$\omega^{-\sigma} \sum_{i} \beta_{i}^{\varsigma} A_{i}^{\varsigma-1} \alpha_{iS}^{\sigma} a_{iS}^{\sigma-1} B_{i}^{\frac{\sigma-\varsigma}{1-\sigma}} = h \sum_{i} \beta_{i}^{\varsigma} A_{i}^{\varsigma-1} \alpha_{iL}^{\sigma} a_{iL}^{\sigma-1} B_{i}^{\frac{\sigma-\varsigma}{1-\sigma}}$$
(2.5)

with $B_i := \left(a_{iL}^{\sigma-1}\alpha_{iL}^{\sigma} + \omega^{1-\sigma}a_{iS}^{\sigma-1}\alpha_{iS}^{\sigma}\right); B_i^{1/(1-\sigma)}$ has an interpretation as price index for input factors.⁸

Let us now start with a detailed analysis of the effects of an increase in total factor productivity A_k and an increase of the skill-augmenting parameter a_{kS} in a specific sector k on the relative wage rate ω ; we shall denote this type of technical change by SATC.⁹ In the following it is essential to distinguish between skill- and labour-intensive sectors. As the number of sectors can be larger than the number of factors, the

⁸One may also replace the elasticity of substitution in production σ by a sector-specific elasticity of substitution σ_i . For the sake of notational convenience we do not make use of this.

⁹The same analysis can be applied to changes in the labour-augmenting parameter a_{kL} but this shall not be discussed here as the results are analogous when applying the Hicksian definitions of technical change.

factor intensities are no longer a function of technological properties only, but become dependent upon equilibrium relationships (see e.g. Dixit and Norman, 1980). We thus introduce the following terminology:

DEFINITION OF SKILL-INTENSIVE SECTORS: We define a sector to be skill-intensive if $\theta_k > \omega^* h$ and to be labour-intensive if $\theta_k < \omega^* h$ where ω^* denotes the relative wage rate in equilibrium. This can also be expressed as $\tilde{a}_i > h$ or $\tilde{a}_i < h$ by dividig both sides with ω^* ; i.e. a skill-intensive sector has a higher skill ratio compared to the relative endowment h of the economy.

2.2.1 Sector-biased technical change

Let us first discuss the effect of an increase in total factor productivity in a particular sector k. Calculating¹⁰ the first derivatives with respect to A_k , using the condition which has to be satisfied for the relative wage rate to rise, $\frac{\partial D}{\partial A_k} > \frac{\partial S}{\partial A_k}$, and simplifying yields $(\varsigma - 1)\theta_k > wh(\varsigma - 1)$ or, stated differently,

$$\begin{aligned} \theta_k &< \omega h \quad \text{if } \varsigma < 1 \\ \theta_k &> \omega h \quad \text{if } \varsigma > 1. \end{aligned}$$

For $\varsigma = 1$ (i.e. Cobb-Douglas demand) total factor productivity vanishes from the equilibrium condition (2.5) which implies that a change in total factor productivity has no effect whatsoever on the relative wage rate. The effect only depends on the elasticity of substitution of demand ς and on whether the sector is skill- or labour-intensive according to the definition above. Let us distinguish the two cases.

FIRST CASE WITH $\varsigma < 1$: The relative wage rate will rise if the innovating sector is labour-intensive according to the definition above. As the price of this particular good is falling, demand for this good is rising whereas demand for other goods is falling as a consequence of the substitution effect; however, as $\varsigma < 1$ the income effect is larger as compared to the substitution effect, which implies that demand for all other goods is rising as well. As this includes a number of goods with higher skill intensities as compared to the innovating sector - which is labour-intensive - this implies a rising demand for skills in total. The opposing forces to a rising skill premium are that, first, demand for the innovating sector is rising relative to the other sectors by the substitution effect; second, total factor productivity growth in a labour-intensive sector implies that less labour is used and thus the skill premium tends to rise; and third, at the new equilibrium each sector has become less skill-intensive as the relative wage is higher. These forces are not strong enough to prevent a rising wage rate.

SECOND CASE WITH $\varsigma > 1$: In this case the inequality sign reverses and the relative wage rate rises if the innovating sector is skill-intensive according to our definition. Demand in the innovating sector increases due to the substitution effect; although the income effect remains positive for all sectors the substitution effect dominates and thus demand for all other goods is decreasing. As now the number of relatively more labour-intensive goods is large, relative demand for skills is increasing. This effect dominates the opposing forces, i.e. an increase in total factor productivity in a skill-intensive sector and that each sector has become less skill-intensive in the new equilibrium.

The second case is in line with the findings of Haskel and Slaughter (2002) arguing that the reduction of the skill premium was driven by a concentration of technical change in the labour-intensive sectors in the 1970s; conversely, the rise in the skill premium in the 1980s and 1990s may be explained by concentration

 $^{^{10}\}text{Henceforth},\,\omega$ denotes the relative wage rate in equilibrium.

of technical change in the skill-intensive sectors.¹¹ With respect to catching-up economies there is some evidence that the productivity growth rates are higher in the skill-intensive (high-tech) sectors as the initial gap is larger and the speed of catching-up is faster in these sectors (see e.g. Landesmann and Stehrer, 2001, for evidence on labour productivity). This pattern of catching-up would lead to an increasing wage premium in the successfully catching-up countries such as the East Asian countries or Mexico and some of the Central and Eastern European countries. Further below we shall find out in which way this result still holds when taking account of trade and international specialization (see section 3). Let us now turn to the effects when allowing for factor-biased technical change.

2.2.2 Sector- and factor-biased technical change

We discuss the effects of a change in the skill-augmenting parameter in a particular sector k. Here we shall mainly focus on the effects of skill-using technical change, i.e. a rise in the skill-augmenting parameter a_{kS} under the assumption $\sigma > 1$ (see table 2.1 above), as this seems to be the most relevant case empirically (see e.g. Haskel and Slaughter, 2002; Acemoglu, 2002b).¹² The condition under which the relative wage rate will rise is derived in the appendix and given by¹³

$$(\sigma - 1) + (\varsigma - 1)\theta_k > \omega h(\varsigma - \sigma).$$
(2.6)

Let us define the critical value of the cost ratio as $\theta_* := \omega h \frac{\varsigma - \sigma}{\varsigma - 1} - \frac{\sigma - 1}{\varsigma - 1}$. This is a function of the elasticities of substitution σ and ς and the relative wage bill ωh and will play a vital role in the interpretation of the results. For later use we note that the first derivative with respect to ς is negative for $\sigma < 1$, zero if $\sigma = 1$ and positive for $\sigma > 1$. The derivative with respect to σ is negative for $\varsigma > 1$ and positive for $\varsigma < 1$. Figure 2.2 sketches the graphs for different combinations of σ and ς where we have to distinguish the cases $0 < \varsigma < 1$, $\varsigma = 1$ (see below), and $\varsigma > 1$. θ_* as a function of ωh passes through (-1, -1) for all parameter values $\varsigma \neq 1$ and σ . Let us discuss the various cases in detail.

FIRST CASE: LOW ELASTICITY OF SUBSTITUTION IN DEMAND Let us again start with the assumption that goods are complements, i.e. $0 \le \varsigma < 1$. In this case SATC leads to an increase in the relative wage rate if the skill intensity is lower than the critical value θ_* . This can also be seen from condition (2.6) above, which can be written as $\theta_k < \omega h \frac{\varsigma - \sigma}{\varsigma - 1} - \frac{\sigma - 1}{\varsigma - 1}$ (the inequality sign reverses as $\varsigma - 1 < 0$).

- (1) For $\sigma \leq \varsigma$ the critical value θ_* becomes negative and thus the condition can never be satisfied as $\theta_k > 0$ by definition. The relative wage rate is decreasing irrespective of in which sector SATC takes place. In particular this implies that under the assumption of a Leontief technology, i.e. $\sigma = 0$, and $\varsigma < 1$ SATC leads to a decrease in the relative wage in any case. The reason for this is the strong skill-saving (labour-using) character in the Hicksian sense.
- (2) If σ ist larger than ς (but still remains less than one) the effect on the relative wage rate becomes ambiguous. As indicated in panel 1 of figure 2.2 the critical value may become positive if ωh is

¹¹Haskel and Slaughter (2002) analyse skill-biased technical change in open economies. The result above shows that even unbiased technical change in a closed economy could explain the movements of relative wages.

¹²Here we investigate the case of a rise in the skill-augmenting parameters. A similar analysis can be undertaken for a rise in the labour-augmenting parameter, a_{kL} , which would be skill-using if $\sigma < 1$. The condition in this case would become $(\sigma - 1) + (\varsigma - 1)\theta_k^{-1} < (\varsigma - \sigma)(\omega h)^{-1}$ for which an analogous interpretation applies.

¹³When assuming sector-specific elasticities of substitution in production the condition would become $(\sigma_k - 1) + (\varsigma - 1)\theta_k > \omega h(\varsigma - \sigma_k)$.



Figure 2.2: Critical values

high enough. In this case it may happen that SATC taking place in the most labour-intensive industries (i.e. industries characterized by $\theta_k \in [0; \theta_*]$ if $\theta_* > 0$) raises the relative wage rate; SATC in industries characterized by $\theta_k > \theta_*$ leads to a decrease in ω . This critical value θ_* will however always be lower than ωh . Thus the range of sectors for which SATC induces a decrease in ω includes labour-intensive industries (with the exception of the most labour-intensive ones) as well as all skill-intensive industries (i.e. with a cost ratio larger than ωh). Thus, the ambiguous results in Xu (2001) are explained by taking the skill intensity of the innovating sector into account. In a two-sector model the difference of the skill intensities in both sectors leads either to a positive or a negative effect. Let us discuss the case $\theta_k < \theta_*$ in more detail. Due to the labour-using character of SATC, demand for labour is rising (at constant factor prices); the effect is less strong compared to a smaller σ as discussed in the previous paragraph. On the other hand - as the elasticity of substitution in goods demand is low - demand for goods in all other sectors is rising as the income effect dominates the substitution effect. As these sectors are relatively more skill-intensive compared to the innovating sector, demand for skills is increasing. As this range is large enough - the innovating sector is 'very' labour-intensive - this effect dominates the first and thus relative demand for skills and the relative wage rate are rising. If the innovating sector is characterized by a skill intensity above θ_* , the labour-using effect is less pronounced as this sector is more skill-intensive. Further, demand for goods for a larger range of more labour-intensive sectors is increasing, which induces a reduction in the relative wage rate.

For a lower σ the range of labour-intensive sectors below the critical value becomes smaller as the labour-using character is more pronounced. An even larger range of relatively more skill-intensive sectors is needed such that the relative wage rate rises for a fixed ς . If $\sigma \leq \varsigma$ we have already seen above that the relative wage is decreasing in any case. Second, a larger parameter value ς (still lower than one) also implies a smaller range $]0; \theta_*[$ as the substitution effect for goods is higher and the shift of demand towards the innovating sectors is more pronounced. Thus, an even larger number of relatively more skill-intensive sectors is needed to induce an increase in the relative wage rate.

- (3) For $\sigma = 1$ (Cobb-Douglas production) the graph of the critical value becomes a 45° line.¹⁴ A change in a factor-augmenting parameter a_{kz} is Hicks-neutral. Qualitatively, this is exactly the same case as already discussed above for a change in A_k (see section 2.2.1). In this case only the sector bias of technical change matters.
- (4) Finally, if $\sigma > 1$ SATC is skill-using (labour-saving) in the Hicksian sense, which is the empirically relevant case (see e.g. Haskel and Slaughter, 2002). The critical value now is always above the average value, i.e. $\theta_* > \omega h$, as can be seen in figure 2.2. SATC raises the relative wage rate apart from cases where the innovating sector is 'very' skill-intensive (in the sense that $\theta_k > \theta_*$). The range of sectors for which ω is rising includes all labour-intensive industries as well as those characterized by higher than average skill intensities. As SATC is skill-using in the Hicksian sense this implies rising demand for skills in the innovating sector. If it takes place in a sector with skill intensity below the critical value θ_* , demand for goods in all other sectors will rise as well (as we still have $\varsigma < 1$, the income effect dominates the substitution effect). If the innovating sector is not too skill-intensive the net effect is an increase in demand for skills and hence a rising relative wage. If, however, innovation takes place in a sector characterized by $\theta_k > \theta_*$, demand for goods in a wide range of relatively more labour-intensive sectors is rising, which explains the reduction in the relative wage rate.

Let us again discuss this result with respect to the findings in the literature. Haskel and Slaughter (2002) argue that skill-biased technical change was concentrated in the labour-intensive sectors in the 1970s and in the skill-intensive sectors in the 1980s and 1990s. Given this result, technical change would have had to be concentrated in the 'very' skill-intensive sectors in the 1970s to explain the decrease of relative wages; however, this seems to be at odds with the empirical facts. On the other hand, if technical change was concentrated in all sectors with the exception of the 'very' skill-intensive ones the rising relative wage rate in the 1980s and 1990s could be explained. For less advanced economies, which are performing relatively better in the labour-intensive sectors and some of the skill-intensive sectors, skill-using technical change is thus a potential explanation for rising relative wages. For this one has only to exclude that technical change occurs mainly in the most skill-intensive sectors of the catching-up economies. These two interpretations depend, however, on the assumption of $\varsigma < 1$. In the next sections we analyse the cases $\varsigma = 1$ and $\varsigma > 1$.

Summarizing, the ambiguous results in Xu (2001) may thus be explained by taking the (relative) skill intensity of the innovating sector into account: If $\sigma < 1$, the effect will always be negative if technical change takes place in a skill-intensive sector; if technical change occurs in a labour-intensive sector the relative wage rate may rise if this is a 'very' labour-intensive sector, otherwise it will fall. For $\sigma > 1$ and $\varsigma < 1$, SATC in a 'very' skill-intensive sector leads to a decrease of the relative wage; the effect is positive if the sectors is below the critical value θ_* . If technical change takes place in a labour-intensive sector

¹⁴The condition cannot be derived directly from the equilibrium equation as this would involve a division by zero. However, one can show easily that in this case the condition becomes $(\varsigma - 1)\theta_k > wh(\varsigma - 1)$.

the effect will be unambiguously positive. Let us compare these results also to the results of growth in total factor productivity. We have seen that under the assumption $\varsigma < 1$ relative wages are rising if neutral technical change takes place in the labour-intensive sectors. If technical change is of the skill-using character the range of sectors where the effect on ω is positive becomes even larger.

SECOND CASE: COBB-DOUGLAS DEMAND If $\varsigma = 1$ the condition becomes $(\sigma - 1) > \omega h(1 - \sigma)$ or $(\sigma - 1) > -\omega h(\sigma - 1)$. Again one has to distinguish several cases:

- (1) Under the assumption $0 \le \sigma < 1$ the condition reduces to $1 < -\omega h$ which can never be satisfied as $\omega h > 0$ by definition; thus, if factors are complements, SATC unambiguously reduces ω as in this case SATC is skill-saving. As can be seen from the derivatives of the supply and demand curves (see appendix A.2) the demand curve shifts to the left whereas the supply curve shifts to the right.
- (2) The equilibrium condition can be solved explicitly if $\sigma = 1$ and becomes $\omega = \frac{1}{h} \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} \beta_i \alpha_{iS}}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} \beta_i \alpha_{iL}}$. Neither a change in total factor productivity nor a change in factor-augmenting parameters (which are Hicks-neutral) would affect the equilibrium wage rate.
- (3) In the third case, $\sigma > 1$, the condition simplifies to $1 > -\omega h$, which is satisfied in any case. Hence, if factors are substitutes, SATC, which is skill-using now, leads to a higher relative wage rate irrespective of the skill intensities of the innovating sector.

Summarizing, if $\varsigma = 1$ it is only the factor bias and not the sector bias of technical change that matters. The effect on ω solely depends on the elasticity of substitution in production and the effects can easily be classified by using the Hicksian definition of technical change. The result by Krugman (2000) that only the factor bias matters thus depends heavily on the assumption of Cobb-Douglas preferences; the direction of the effects depends on the elasticities of substitution in production.¹⁵

THIRD CASE: HIGH ELASTICITY OF SUBSITUTION IN DEMAND Let us now consider the case $\varsigma > 1$, which is a frequently used assumption. Now an increase in the skill-augmenting parameter taking place in a sector with skill intensity larger than the critical value θ_* leads to an increase in the relative wage rate. As the condition (2.6) becomes $\theta_k > \omega h \frac{\varsigma - \sigma}{\varsigma - 1} - \frac{\sigma - 1}{\varsigma - 1}$ the inequality sign is not reversed as $\varsigma - 1 > 0$. Again, let us discuss the cases with respect to different values of σ ; these are graphically shown in panel 2 of figure 2.2.

(1) If $0 \le \sigma < 1$ the critical value is $\theta_* > \omega h$ and SATC will lead to a higher relative wage rate only when taking place in the most skill-intensive sectors. Although SATC is skill-saving, the fact that $\varsigma > 1$, i.e. the substitution effect dominates the income effect, implies that demand shifts to this sector whereas it is falling for all other ones (there is a wide range of less skill-intensive sectors) and as the skill intensity of the innovating sector is relatively high the relative wage is rising. On the other hand, if innovation takes place in a sector characterized by $\theta_k < \theta_*$ demand in a larger range of (relatively) skill intensive sectors is falling whereas a more labour-intensive sector as compared to

¹⁵Krugman (2000) assumed Leontief technologies. To analyse the effects of skill-using technical change one would thus have to assume an increase in the labour-augmenting parameter a_{kL} . But the same results would hold as well. Furthermore, the results that it is only the factor bias which matters, also arises in the cases assuming $\varsigma \neq 1$ above if σ becomes either sufficiently large or sufficiently low (e.g. $\sigma \leq \varsigma$ or $\sigma \geq \varsigma$, respectively).

above is attracting demand; the net effect is a falling relative wage rate (note that technical change in this case is labour-using).

The critical value is smaller the higher is ς . The reason is that the substitution effect for goods demand increases such that even a lower skill intensity of the innovating sector suffices to induce a rising relative wage rate. On the other hand, the critical value is lower for a higher parameter value of σ as the skill-saving character is less pronounced. Note that the range of sectors for which SATC leads to a decreasing relative wage contains all labour-intensive sectors but also those with above-average skill intensity - which explains the ambiguity of the results in Xu (2001).

- (2) For $\sigma = 1$ the graph of the critical value is again a 45° line. In this case we thus have $\theta_* = \omega h$. Again, this is the case already discussed above as technical change is Hicks-neutral.
- (3) Under the assumption 1 < σ < ς, SATC becomes skill-using, which is the empirically relevant case. The critical value may be positive (if ωh is large enough). The relative wage is increasing for a large range of industries, but there may be some 'very' labour-intensive industries (i.e. industries with θ_k < ωh) with SATC leading to a decreasing relative wage rate. If SATC takes place in a sector with skill intensity above the critical value, the same arguments as above apply; additionally technical change is skill-using, which explains that the critical value is lower. If SATC takes place in a 'very' labour-intensive sector, demand for a large range of skill-intensive sectors is falling whereas demand for the very labour-intensive good is rising. This effect dominates the other ones and ω is falling. In this case a higher elasticity of substitution in demand ς increases the critical value whereas a higher elasticity of substitution in factor demand lowers the critical value.</p>
- (4) For $\sigma \geq \varsigma$ the critical value θ_k is always negative and thus the sector bias of SATC plays no role. The condition above is always satisfied and the relative wage rate is increasing in any case. The reason for this is the strong skill-using character. The sector bias of technical change would not play any role if this assumption is satisfied.

Again, these results are in line with the findings reported in Xu (2001) but additionally provide explanations for the ambigous cases reported therein similar to above. Let us finally mention that cases (3) and (4) just discussed are important as the underlying assumption is that technical change is skill-biased. In these two cases skill-using technical change leads to a rising relative wage rate apart from cases where innovation takes place in the most labour-intensive sectors only. These results thus may explain why a number of empirical studies point to the importance of the factor bias rather than the sector bias for an explanation of the rising skill premium in the 1980s and 1990s (when assuming that technical change was concentrated in the skill-intensive sectors). However, the falling skill premium in the 1970s could only be explained by skill-biased technical change in the 'very' labour-intensive sectors. With respect to catching-up economies this would also provide an explanation for a rising wage differential if these countries are performing relatively better in the skill-intensive sectors (or, more exactly, not only in the most labour-intensive sectors) as proposed by Landesmann and Stehrer (2001). However, so far we have excluded effects of international specialization, which will be discussed in detail in the next section.

This concludes the detailed discussion of the effects of technical change on the relative wage rate in a closed economy.¹⁶ We have shown in which way both the factor and the sector bias of technical

¹⁶Let us finally mention the results of a different modelling of technical change, namely, a change in the share parameters α_{kz} as e.g. used in Haskel and Slaughter (2002). Since an increase of α_{kS} is skill-using in any case, the elasticity of

change are important in providing a proper explanation of the effects of technical change. For skill-biased technical change (which is the empirically relevant case) it is the sector bias which matters when taking the effects on goods prices and demand into account; however, the direction of change depends crucially on the elasticity of substitution in demand. The results are summarized in table 2.2.

3 Effects of technical change in trading economies

So far we only dealt with the case of a closed economy. Now we extend this framework to a discrete number of trading economies, denoted by superscripts $c = 1, \ldots, C$. If the number of sectors is larger than the number of factors, i.e. N > H, it is generally not possible to predict the patterns of trade. This problem will be dealt with by assuming a specific demand system which, basically, assumes that goods of a particular sector *i* are differentiated by country. We shall use Dixit-Stiglitz preferences and allow for different elasticities of substitution in, first, demand for particular goods *i* across countries denoted by φ (which is assumed to be larger than one)¹⁷ and, second, in demand across goods (again denoted by ς). This in particular implies that consumers demand all goods available, i.e. from the domestic and all foreign countries; this may be interpreted as a love-for-variety for country-specific brands.¹⁸ Consequently, the law of one price does not hold as each good is considered a specific brand. As each country produces and demands in all sectors, countries with a lower price capture a larger share of world production (when accounting for the size of the economies) which thus allows for specialization patterns. Furthermore, the model thus does not allow for complete specialization, and intra-industry trade (i.e. a country is importing and exporting in the same sector) will take place.

These specific assumptions on the demand structure imply that the results are no longer strictly comparable to the contributions by Xu (2001) and Zhu and Trefler (2005) (which basically require the law of one price to hold.) Still, the model remains analytically tractable, which again results in specific conditions allowing for straightforward economic interpretations and useful insights for discussing the effects of technical change in a setup of many trading economies.

3.1 The model for trading economies

For an extension to many trading economies we assume that goods are differentiated by countries. The nominal expenditure shares for demand of country r in country c for a particular product i are then given by $\gamma_j^{rc} = \frac{(\epsilon^{tr} p_j^r)^{1-\varphi}(\delta^r)^{\varphi}}{P_j^{(t)}} \frac{\left(P_j^{(t)}\right)^{1-\varsigma} \beta_j^{\varsigma}}{P^{(t)}}$ which satisfies $0 < \gamma_j^{cr} < 1$ and $\sum_{j,r} \gamma_j^{cr} = 1$ for all countries $c = 1, \ldots, C$. In this expression ϵ^{tr} denotes the exchange rate which expresses prices in a common currency of country t; δ^r and β_j are preference parameters. In the appendix section A.3 we show how this is derived from a nested CES utility function where we allow for different elasticities of substitution

substitution in production σ plays no role in the qualitative results. The results can be summarized as follows: An increase in α_{kS} implies a higher relative wage rate if it is cost-reducing in most cases. Only for substantially low or substantially high parameter values of ς the effect may become ambiguous. As a similar interpretation applies, we shall not go into detail.

¹⁷Again one may consider cases where this elasticity is replaced by sector-specific elasticity. In the conditions given the parameter φ would then have to be replaced by φ_k .

¹⁸Romalis (2004) integrates a many-country version of a Heckscher-Ohlin model with a continuum of goods with monopolistic competition and transport costs. Each country produces different varieties of a particular sector and countries using their abundant factors more intensively capture a larger share of production and trade. Here a Cobb-Douglas demand and Cobb-Douglas production structure which is equal across industries is assumed.

$\Delta A_k > 0$		EoS in pro	duction	
EoS in demand	$\sigma = 0$	$0<\sigma<1$	$\sigma = 1$	$\sigma > 1$
$0 < \varsigma < 1$	$+ \text{ if } \theta_k < \omega h$	$+ \text{ if } \theta_k < \omega h$	$+ \text{ if } \theta_k < \omega h$	$+$ if $\theta_k < \omega h$
	$- ext{ if } heta_k > \omega h$	$- ext{ if } heta_k>\omega h$	$- ext{ if } heta_k > \omega h$	$- ext{ if } heta_k>\omega h$
$\varsigma = 1$	0	0	0	0
$\varsigma > 1$	$+ \text{ if } \theta_k > \omega h$	$+ \text{ if } \theta_k > \omega h$	$+ \text{ if } \theta_k > \omega h$	$+$ if $\theta_k > \omega h$
	$- \text{ if } \theta_k < \omega h$	$- ext{ if } heta_k < \omega h$	$- \text{ if } \theta_k < \omega h$	$-$ if $\theta_k < \omega h$
$\Delta a_{iS} > 0$		EoS in pro	duction	
EoS in demand	$\sigma = 0$	$0<\sigma<1$	$\sigma = 1$	$\sigma > 1$
$0 < \varsigma < 1$	1	$-$ if $\sigma \leq \varsigma$		
		$- ext{ if } \sigma > \varsigma ext{ and } heta_k > heta_*(< \omega h)$	$- \text{ if } \theta_k > \theta_* = \omega h$	$- \text{ if } \theta_k > \theta_* (> \omega h)$
		+ if $\sigma > \varsigma$ and $\theta_k < \theta_*(< \omega h)$	+ if $\theta_k < \theta_* = \omega h$	$+ \text{ if } \theta_k < \theta_* (> \omega h)$
$\varsigma = 1$	I	1	0	+
$\varsigma > 1$	$- \text{ if } \theta_k < \theta_* (> \omega h)$	$- \text{ if } \theta_k < \theta_* (> \omega h)$	$+ \text{ if } \theta_k > \theta_* = \omega h$	$+$ if $\sigma \ge \varsigma$
	+ if $\theta_k > \theta_* (> \omega h)$	$+ \text{ if } \theta_k > \theta_* (> \omega h)$	$- \text{ if } \theta_k < \theta_* = \omega h$	+ if $\sigma < \varsigma$ and $\theta_k > \theta_*(<\omega h)$ if $\sigma < \varsigma$ and $\theta_k > \theta_*(<\omega h)$
				$(nm \wedge)^* v \wedge \gamma^* um v \wedge \gamma^* (\gamma m n)$

Table 2.2: Summary of results for integrated economy

in demand across goods ς and for a particular good across countries $\varphi \geq 1$; the latter condition means that goods of the same sector j produced in different countries are substitutes. $P_j^{(t)}$ and $P^{(t)}$ are price indices for the composite good j and for the overall economy, respectively.¹⁹ For the special case $\varphi = 1$ the expenditure shares become a constant $\gamma_j^{rc} = (\beta_j^{\varsigma} / \sum_k \beta_k^{\varsigma}) \delta_j^r$.

The employment rates must be modified to include demand from other countries as well and have to be reformulated as

$$\begin{split} E_{S}^{r} &= \frac{1}{h_{S}^{r}} \sum_{i=1}^{N} l_{iS}^{r} = \frac{1}{h_{S}^{r}} \sum_{i=1}^{N} q_{i}^{r} \tilde{a}_{iS}^{r} = \frac{1}{h_{S}^{r}} \sum_{c=1}^{C} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\gamma_{i}^{rc}(\epsilon^{rc}Y^{c})}{p_{i}^{r}} \tilde{a}_{iS}^{r} \\ E_{L}^{r} &= \frac{1}{h_{L}^{r}} \sum_{i=1}^{N} l_{iL}^{r} = \frac{1}{h_{L}^{r}} \sum_{i=1}^{N} q_{i}^{r} \tilde{a}_{iL}^{r} = \frac{1}{h_{S}^{r}} h^{r} \sum_{c=1}^{C} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\gamma_{i}^{rc}(\epsilon^{rc}Y^{c})}{p_{i}^{r}} \tilde{a}_{iL}^{r}. \end{split}$$

The technical parameters A_k^c , a_{kz}^c and α_{kz}^c may vary across countries and industries; however, we again assume that the elasticity of substitution in production σ is equal for all industries and countries.²⁰ The internal equilibrium requires $E^r = E_S^r - E_L^r = 0$ and thus the condition becomes

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\tilde{a}_{iS}^{r}}{p_{i}^{r}} \sum_{c=1}^{C} \gamma_{i}^{rc} \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{N} \gamma_{j}^{cr}}{\sum_{j=1}^{N} \gamma_{j}^{rc}} = h^{r} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\tilde{a}_{iL}^{r}}{p_{i}^{r}} \sum_{c=1}^{C} \gamma_{i}^{rc} \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{N} \gamma_{j}^{cr}}{\sum_{j=1}^{N} \gamma_{j}^{rc}}$$
(3.7)

where we inserted balance-of-payments equilibrium conditions for $\epsilon^{rc}Y^c$. For fixed exchange rates and constant relative wage rates in the other countries c the same analysis with respect to existence, uniqueness and stability of the (internal) equilibrium in country r similar to the case of the closed economy applies. In the following we are interested in studying the effects of technical change taking place in a specific sector and country on the relative wage rate in this or a foreign economy. For this we can use the same method as above, i.e. taking the first derivative with respect to the technological parameter under consideration and evaluating this expression at fixed wage and exchange rates.

3.2 The effects of sector- and factor-biased technical progress in the domestic and foreign economy

As was done above, we shall again show the conditions for a rise in the relative wage and give an interpretation of them. The examples we discuss are, first, the effects of skill-biased technical change in an advanced economy on less advanced (developing) countries and, second, the effects of technological catching-up of less advanced economies on relative wages in the advanced economies. In particular we are interested in which cases one can explain the rising skill premium in the advanced as well as the less advanced (catching-up) economy (see Feenstra and Hanson, 2001). For analytical clarity we shall again assume that technical change takes place in a particular sector of either an advanced or a less advanced economy and study the effects on the innovating as well as on the other economy. The equilibrium condition when inserting for prices, input coefficients and expenditure shares is shown in the appendix section A.3. We start with the special case $\varphi = 1$ already mentioned above.

¹⁹As preferences are assumed to be equal across countries, the country index does not appear in these expressions.

 $^{^{20}}$ Similarly to the closed economy case, one could introduce country- and sector-specific elasticities of subsitution in production for analysing the effects of technical change. Again, we shall not do this for notational convenience.

3.2.1 A special case

We show in the appendix that the nominal expenditure shares are constant under the assumption of $\varphi = 1$. Denoting them by β_i^r the equilibrium condition can be written as

$$(\omega^r)^{-\sigma} \sum_{i=1}^N \beta_i^r (\alpha_{iS}^r)^{\sigma} (a_{iS}^r)^{\sigma-1} (B_i^r)^{-1} = h^r \sum_{i=1}^N \beta_i^r (\alpha_{iL}^r)^{\sigma} (a_{iL}^r)^{\sigma-1} (B_i^r)^{-1}$$

with $B_i^r = (a_{iL}^r)^{\sigma-1} (\alpha_{iL}^r)^{\sigma} + (\omega^r)^{1-\sigma} (a_{iS}^r)^{\sigma-1} (\alpha_{iS}^r)^{\sigma}$. One can see that this expression is similar to the expression in the case of a closed economy. As the expenditure shares are constant the exchange rates cancel out in this condition. Thus one can derive the internal equilibrium for each economy separately which determines the equilibrium wage rates ω^c for $c = 1, \ldots, C$ and - given ω^r and the parameters for all countries - one can easily calculate the equilibrium exchange rates to satisfy the external equilibrium condition (see footnote above).²¹

To analyse the effects of technological changes in the domestic economy the analysis is analogous to the case of a closed economy under the assumption $\varsigma = 1$ (see paragraph SECOND CASE above): First, a change in total factor productivity has no effect on the equilibrium relative wage; second, a higher skill-augmenting parameter a_{kS}^r has a negative effect on the relative wage rate if $\sigma < 1$ and a positive effect if $\sigma > 1$. What are the effects of technological change in a foreign economy on the relative wage in the domestic economy? Here it is interesting to note that under the assumption of constant expenditure shares such changes have no effect on the domestic country r whatsoever.²² This result however changes when allowing $\varphi > 1$ to which we turn next.

3.2.2 Sector-biased technical change

The equilibrium condition is given in the appendix (see section A.3). In this section we analyse the effect of a change in total factor productivity from the viewpoint of economy r. We have to distinguish between technical change taking place in the domestic country r and a foreign country $c \neq r$. Let us discuss the latter case first.

TECHNICAL CHANGE IN A FOREIGN ECONOMY. Taking derivatives with respect to A_k^c gives the condition for the home country $\theta_k^r < \omega^r h^r$ (see appendix). The effect on the equilibrium wage rate in economy r only depends on the cost ratio and the relative wage bill in this country, and not on that in the innovating (foreign) economy. Thus, the effect only depends on the ranking of the sector in the economy r under consideration and not on the characteristic of the sector in the innovating economy. For example, let us assume that total factor productivity is increasing in a particular sector k of a foreign country c. If this sector is labour-intensive in the domestic country r, i.e. satisfies $\theta_k^r < \omega^r h^r$, the relative wage rate will rise. As $\varphi > 1$ relative more of this good is demanded in country c and less is demanded in country r. Thus relative demand for labour is decreasing in country r, which implies relatively more demand for skilled workers, and the relative wage rate is rising. On the other hand, if sector k is relatively skill-intensive in country r (irrespective of the ranking in the innovating country c) the relative wage rate will fall.

²¹For $\sigma = 1$, i.e. a Cobb-Douglas production function, the equilibrium wage rates can be calculated directly for each country.

 $^{^{22}}$ Technical progress only has an effect on the equilibrium exchange rates which have to change accordingly to restore the external equilibrium. Of course, this implies welfare effects as terms of trades are changing; these are, however, beyond the scope of this paper.

The former case could explain the rising wage premium in the advanced economies (which in this case corresponds to the domestic economy) in an international framework: If some countries are catching-up quite rapidly in the labour-intensive sectors (or in the labour-intensive segments of high-tech sectors such as electronics, machinery, etc. which are satisfying the condition) the relative wage rate in the advanced economies will rise due to specialization effects. On the other hand, a rising skill premium in the less advanced economies (which are now interpreted as the domestic economy) could only be explained by concentration of technical change in the labour-intensive sectors of the advanced economies.

TECHNICAL CHANGE IN THE DOMESTIC ECONOMY. Taking derivatives with respect to A_k^r yields the condition for a rising relative wage in this economy given by

$$(\tilde{\varsigma}-1)\theta_k^r > \omega^r h^r (\tilde{\varsigma}-1)$$

with $\tilde{\varsigma} := \varphi - \varsigma \mu_k^{rr}(\varphi - 1) = \varphi(1 - \varsigma \mu_k^{rr}) + \varsigma \mu_k^{rr}$ (see appendix); the latter expression depends on the elasticities of substitution ς and φ and the expenditure share for the composite good k to which the sector belongs in the own economy (see appendix for an exact definition of μ_k^{rr}). We have to distinguish two cases: The condition $\tilde{\varsigma} > 1$ is satisfied if $0 < \varsigma < 1/\mu_k^{rr}$, i.e. the elasticity of substitution between goods ς is not too large (although it may be considerably larger than one if μ_k^{rr} is small). In the other case, $\tilde{\varsigma} < 1$ implies that $\varsigma > 1/\mu_k^{rr}$; this is more likely to be satisfied the larger the expenditure share of demand in the home country.

Let us start with the first case: If $\tilde{\varsigma} > 1$ this corresponds to the case $\varsigma > 1$ in the closed economy as the condition becomes $\theta_k^r > \omega^r h^r$. If total factor productivity is rising in a skill-intensive sector of the domestic economy r, the relative wage rate is rising as the economy is attracting demand in this skill-intensive sector and the elasticities of subsitution are high. Thus, concentration of technical change in the skill-intensive sectors explains the rising wage premium in the advanced countries (as the domestic economies) also in cases where international specialization effects are taken into account as well. However, this may be at odds with some evidence that the wage premium is rising in the less advanced economies as well, as - given the discussion above - relative wages in the domestic and the foreign economies would move in opposite directions (if the innovating sector is characterized as either skill- or labour-intensive in all economies). When considering the catching-up economies as the domestic economy, the skill premium would rise if catching-up is concentrated in the skill-intensive sectors; however, from this one should then expect a declining relative wage in the advanced economies.

What happens if $\tilde{\varsigma} < 1$, which may be relevant if the substitution effects are very strong? The condition becomes $\theta_k^r < \omega^r h^r$, which formally corresponds to the case $\varsigma < 1$ in the closed economy; i.e. the relative wage is rising if technical change takes place in a labour-intensive sector. However, the interpretation is different: If total factor productivity is increasing in a skill-intensive sector it attracts quite a lot of demand; this raises demand for skills, which implies a higher relative wage. However, if this effect is very strong, costs in the skill-intensive sectors are rising as well; given the strong substitution effects, demand shifts to the labour-intensive goods in general and demand for skill-intensive goods shifts from the domestic (innovating) economy to the foreign economy. The overall effect would then be a decrease in the relative wage of the innovating economy.

Note that in this case the relative wage rate is going in the same direction in both the domestic and the foreign economies (again, if the innovating sector is characterized as either skill- or labour-intensive in all economies). However, to explain the rising wage premium technical change would have to be concentrated

in the labour-intensive industries. Thus a potential explanation for a rising skill premium in both types of countries would be that catching-up is concentrated in the labour-intensive sectors, which would raise the wage premium in the less advanced economies (which in this case has be interpreted as the domestic economy). Above we have already argued that catching-up in labour-intensive sectors leads to a higher relative wage in the advanced countries.²³

3.2.3 Factor- and sector-biased technical change

Let us now consider changes in the skill-augmenting parameters in the domestic and the foreign economy, i.e. a_{kS}^r or a_{kS}^c , respectively.

TECHNICAL CHANGE IN A FOREIGN ECONOMY. We start with the effects of SATC taking place in the foreign economy and study the effects on the domestic economy. The first derivative with respect to a_{kS}^c yields again the condition $\theta_k^r < \omega^r h^r$ (see appendix), i.e. the same condition as in the case of an increase in total factor productivity in a foreign country. As above, this condition does not depend on the elasticities of substitution in demand or production as technical changes are transmitted only via changes in relative prices. The same interpretation as above applies.

TECHNICAL CHANGE IN THE DOMESTIC ECONOMY. Finally let us investigate the case of SATC in the domestic country r. In the appendix we show that the first derivative with respect to a_{kS}^r yields the following condition for a rising relative wage rate²⁴

$$(\sigma - 1) + (\tilde{\varsigma} - 1)\theta_k^r > \omega^r h^r (\tilde{\varsigma} - \sigma).$$

Similar to the case of the closed economy we calculate the critical value as $\theta_*^r = \omega^r h^r \frac{\tilde{\varsigma} - \sigma}{\tilde{\varsigma} - 1} - \frac{\sigma - 1}{\tilde{\varsigma} - 1}$ which is the same expression for the closed economy with ς replaced by $\tilde{\varsigma}$. Again we have to distinguish two cases, namely $\tilde{\varsigma} < 1$ and $\tilde{\varsigma} > 1.^{25}$ In figure 3.3 we have again drawn the relationships for different combinations of σ and $\tilde{\varsigma}$. Let us discuss the various cases in more detail.

FIRST CASE: Let us first dicuss the case $\tilde{\varsigma} > 1$ which implies $\varsigma < 1/\mu_k^{rr}$ where $1/\mu_k^{rr} \ge 1$ (this corresponds to the panel 2 of figure 3.3). If this condition is satisfied the relative wage rate is rising if $\theta_k^r > \theta_*^r$ and falling otherwise. This exactly corresponds to the case of $\varsigma > 1$ in the closed economy case and the same interpretation holds as well (see THIRD CASE in section 2.2.2 above). Let us only discuss the cases where SATC is skill-using, i.e. the lines depicted $1 < \sigma < \tilde{\varsigma}$, $\sigma = \tilde{\varsigma}$ and $\sigma > \tilde{\varsigma}$ in panel 2 of figure 3.3. Skill-biased technical progress in a large range of sectors of the advanced economies which are not too labour-intensive results in a rising skill premium in the advanced economies. If $\sigma \ge \tilde{\varsigma}$, which could be satisfied for small values of ς , SATC in any sector would imply a rising skill premium. (This would imply that the sector bias of SATC does not matter at all and only the factor bias is important.)

Again the rising skill premium in both the advanced as well as the less advanced economies can be explained. Assume that the less advanced economies are experiencing a skill-biased catching-up process in the sectors with skill-intensities above the critical value (again this could include skill-intensive as well as labour-intensive sectors according to our definition). In this case the skill premium in the less

²³Note that the condition $\tilde{\varsigma} < 1$ can be satsified for reasonable values of the elasticities. If the catching-up economies are specialized in the labour-intensive goods the share μ_k^{rr} is relatively high. For instance, if this would be 0.75, the elasticity of substitution ς would have to be larger than 1.333. In CGE models often parameter values of 2.5 are used.

²⁴Similar to above, the condition under the assumption of a Cobb-Douglas production must be derived separately. But the condition becomes $(\tilde{\varsigma} - 1)\theta_k^r > \omega^r h^r(\tilde{\varsigma} - 1)$ which is exactly the condition above with $\sigma = 1$.

 $^{^{25}\}text{The case}\ \tilde{\varsigma}=1$ corresponds to the case $\varphi=1$ discussed above.



Figure 3.3: Critical values

advanced economy would rise if technical change is not concentrated in the most labour-intensive sectors. If further catching-up is concentrated in the sectors (or segments of sectors) which are labour-intensive in the advanced economies, the skill premium would rise there as well.

SECOND CASE: In the second case (see panel 1 of figure 3.3) $\tilde{\varsigma} < 1$, which requires $\varsigma > 1/\mu_k^{rr} > 1$ (the elasticity of subsitution between goods ς has now to be larger than a critical value depending on μ_k^{rr} ; in particular, this implies that it must be larger than one). The condition means that the substitution effect in demand has to be sufficiently strong. In this case the relative wage rate is rising if $\theta_k^r < \theta_*^r$ and falling otherwise. Formally this corresponds to the case $\varsigma < 1$ for the closed economy. The interpretation of this result is analogous to the case of a change in total factor productivity already discussed above; the line depicted with $\sigma = 1$ in panel 1 of figure 3.3 exactly corresponds to that case. If SATC has a skill-using character (which requires $\sigma > 1$) this line rotates counterclockwise and the range of sectors where SATC leads to a rising skill premium becomes larger. Only SATC in the very skill-intensive sectors would lead to a falling skill premium.

Similar to the case $\tilde{\varsigma} < 1$ above this could be used as an explanation for a rising skill premium in both types of countries. Let us just discuss the case of catching-up. Catching-up of a skill-biased character in any sector with the exception of the very skill-intensive ones would lead to a rising skill premium in the less developed countries. Again, if technical change is concentrated in sectors which are labour-intensive in the advanced economies, the skill premium in the latter countries would rise as well.

Let us summarize these results: Empirical evidence shows that skill-biased technical change has been concentrated in the skill-intensive sectors in the advanced economies. This can explain the rising skill premium in the advanced economies; however, if these sectors are the skill-intensive sectors in the less advanced economies one would expect a decrease of the relative wage there. This latter result may not be supported by the empirical evidence that the skill premium has been rising in these countries as well. However, skill-biased catching-up of less advanced economies may lead to a rising relative wage in both the less advanced catching-up and the advanced economies.²⁶

4 Concluding remarks

In this paper we introduced a framework allowing for any discrete number of sectors and countries and two factors to investigate the effects different types of technical change on relative factor prices in the innovating as well as the other economies. From a methodological point of view the model allows for differences in technology by country and sector (i.e. total factor productivity, skill-augmenting parameters and - in a slightly more general version - even different elasticities of substitution) and differences in factor endowment structures across countries and thus integrates technology- based with factor endowment-based views on trade. The model is particularly interesting for studying the effects of catching-up processes of less advanced economies concentrated in particular sectors, the effects of (defensive) innovation in advanced economies, changes in factor endowments, etc. We were able to derive necessary and sufficient conditions under which technical change causes an increase in the relative wage rate. These conditions are determined by the sectoral skill intensity, the elasticities of substitution in production and demand, relative endowment and the equilibrium wage rate. The analytical results are useful not only for modelling and computational research but also for further empirical studies. Furthermore, the conditions allow for a straightforward economic interpretation and shed light on the cases which are ambiguous in the existing literature so far.

We have also provided interpretations of the existing empirical studies, with special emphasis on the sector- versus factor-biased hypotheses. In general, the stronger the skill-biased character of technical change (i.e. the more skill-using technical change is in the Hicksian sense) the larger is the range of sectors where innovation leads to a rising skill premium. This sheds a different light on the two hypotheses: Skill-biased technical change may not be heavily concentrated in a particular subset of sectors (either the most labour or the most skill-intensive ones, depending on the elasticity of substitution in demand) to explain the rising skill premium. This may be the reason why most empirical studies find the factor bias being more important than the sector bias. Furthermore, the phenomenon of catching-up with a skill-biased character of less advanced economies in a wide range of sectors can explain that relative wages of skilled workers are rising in both the advanced and the less advanced economies, which provides an alternative hypothesis on this issue.

²⁶In the case $\tilde{\varsigma} < 1$, panel 2 of figure 3.3, SATC may not be concentrated in the least labour-intensive sectors, whereas in the case $\tilde{\varsigma} > 1$ it may not be concentrated in the most skill-intensive sectors.

A Appendix

A.1 Cost-reducing criterion

Before turning to the model, let us analyse whether the various forms of technical progress discussed above are in fact cost-reducing at constant factor prices, which is used as a criterion for whether the innovation is actually introduced. If this were not the case, the particular change in the coefficients may not take place at all. The criterion, however, does not rule out that the costs of production of a particular good will rise once all general equilibrium adjustments have taken place.

Straighforward cost-minimization yields that the costs of production are given by

$$c_i = A_i^{-1} \left[\alpha_{iL}^{\sigma} a_{iL}^{\sigma-1} + \omega^{1-\sigma} \alpha_{iS}^{\sigma} a_{iS}^{\sigma-1} \right]^{\frac{1}{1-\sigma}}$$

for $\sigma \neq 1$. The first derivative of c_i with respect to a particular technical parameter evaluated at constant factor prices must be negative to meet the cost-reducing criterion. Obviously $\partial c_i / \partial A_i < 0$, i.e. total factor productivity growth is cost-reducing. Taking the derivative with respect to a_{iS} yields

$$\frac{dc_i}{da_{iS}} = A_i^{-1} \frac{1}{1-\sigma} \left[\alpha_{iL}^{\sigma} a_{iL}^{\sigma-1} + \omega^{1-\sigma} \alpha_{iS}^{\sigma} a_{iS}^{\sigma-1} \right]^{\frac{1}{1-\sigma}-1} \omega^{1-\sigma} \alpha_{iS}^{\sigma} (\sigma-1) a_{iS}^{\sigma-2} < 0$$

as $(\sigma - 1)/(1 - \sigma) = -1$. For a_{iL} this can be shown analogously. Thus, total factor productivity growth and factor-augmenting technical progress are cost-reducing in any case. This includes the case of a change in the parameters a_{iz} with $\sigma = 1$.

A.2 Closed economy

The equilibrium condition is given in the text. Taking derivatives with respect to A_k the derivation of the condition is straightforward; thus we only discuss changes in skill-augmenting parameters. The first derivatives of (2.5) with respect to a_{kz} are given by

$$\frac{\partial D}{\partial a_{kS}} = \omega^{-1} \beta_k^{\varsigma} A_k^{\varsigma-1} \omega^{1-\sigma} \alpha_{kS}^{\sigma} a_{kS}^{\sigma-2} B_k^{\frac{\sigma-\varsigma}{1-\sigma}} \left[(\sigma-1) - (\sigma-\varsigma) \theta_{kS} \right]$$
$$\frac{\partial S}{\partial a_{kS}} = h \beta_k^{\varsigma} A_k^{\varsigma-1} \omega^{1-\sigma} \alpha_{kS}^{\sigma} a_{kS}^{\sigma-2} B_k^{\frac{\sigma-\varsigma}{1-\sigma}} (\varsigma-\sigma) \theta_{kL}$$

and the condition $\frac{\partial D}{\partial a_{kS}} > \frac{\partial S}{\partial a_{kS}}$ can be expressed as:

$$(\sigma - 1) - (\sigma - \varsigma)\theta_{kS} > \omega h(\varsigma - \sigma)\theta_{kL}$$
$$(\sigma - 1)\theta_{kS} + (\sigma - 1)\theta_{kL} - (\sigma - \varsigma)\theta_{kS} > \omega h(\varsigma - \sigma)\theta_{kL}$$
$$(\sigma - 1)\theta_k + (\sigma - 1) - (\sigma - \varsigma)\theta_k > \omega h(\varsigma - \sigma)$$

Rearranging the last term gives the expression used in the text (see section 2.2.2).

The first derivative of the critical value $\theta_* = \omega h \frac{\varsigma - \sigma}{\varsigma - 1} - \frac{\sigma - 1}{\varsigma - 1}$ with respect to ς is $\frac{\partial \theta_*}{\partial \varsigma} = \omega h \frac{\sigma - 1}{(\varsigma - 1)^2} + \frac{\sigma - 1}{(\varsigma - 1)^2}$ which is negative for $\sigma < 1$, zero if $\sigma = 1$ and positive for $\sigma > 1$. The derivative with respect to σ is $\frac{\partial \theta_*}{\partial \sigma} = -\omega h \frac{1}{\varsigma - 1} - \frac{1}{\varsigma - 1}$ which is negative for $\varsigma > 1$ and positive for $\varsigma < 1$.

A.3 Trading economies

A.3.1 Demand structure

In the following we use a nested CES function. We allow for different elasticities of substitution in demand across goods ς and for a particular good k across countries φ . Assuming that the utility function in country c is given by $U^c = \left(\sum_j \beta_j (Q_j^c)^e\right)^{1/\varrho}$ with $\sum_j \beta_j = 1$ where $Q_j^c = \left(\sum_r \delta_j^r (q_j^r)^\phi\right)^{1/\varphi}$ is a composite good (composed of the goods j produced in the own and the other countries) with $\sum_r \delta_j^r = 1$ for all j. As price index for the composite good we use $P_j^{(t)} = \left(\sum_s (\epsilon^{ts} p_i^s)^{1-\varphi} (\delta_i^s)^\varphi\right)$ where the exchange rates ϵ^{ts} express all prices in a common currency of country t. This results from the optimization problem. As we assume equal preferences (expressed in the equality of parameters)²⁷ the price index is equal for all countries; the superscript in brackets indicates that the index is expressed in currency of country t. Demand for the composite good is given by $Q_j^c = Y^c \frac{(P_j^{(t)})^{-\varsigma} \beta_j^\varsigma}{\sum_k (P_k^{(t)})^{1-\varsigma} \beta_k^\varsigma}$. Simple manipulation shows that in country c the share of income spent on (the composite) good j is $\gamma_j^c = \frac{(P_j^{(t)})^{1-\varsigma} \beta_k^\varsigma}{\sum_k (P_k^{(t)})^{1-\varsigma} \beta_k^\varsigma}$ which satisfies the constraint $\sum_j \gamma_j^c = 1$. The nominal expenditure share in country c for good k (of the composite good) demanded in country r is $\mu_k^{rc} = \frac{(\epsilon^{tr} p_k^r)^{1-\varphi} (\delta^r)^\varphi}{\sum_s (\epsilon^{ts} p_k^s)^{1-\varphi} (\delta^r)^\varphi} = \frac{(\epsilon^{tr} p_k^r)^{1-\varphi} (\delta^r)^\varphi}{P_k^{(t)}}$ which satisfies $\sum_r \mu_k^{cr} = 1$; we set $P^{(t)} = \sum_k (P_k^{(t)})^{1-\varsigma} \beta_k^\varsigma$. Multiplication of these two terms gives the overall expenditure shares

$$\gamma_j^{rc} = \frac{(\epsilon^{tr} p_j^r)^{1-\varphi} (\delta^r)^{\varphi}}{P_i^{(t)}} \frac{\left(P_j^{(t)}\right)^{1-\varsigma} \beta_j^{\varsigma}}{P^{(t)}}.$$

These shares also satisfy the constraint $\sum_{j,r} \gamma_j^{cr} = 1$ for all countries $c = 1, \ldots, C$. For the special case $\varphi = 1$ the expenditure shares become $\gamma_j^c = \beta_j^c / \sum_k \beta_k^c$ and $\mu_j^{rc} = \delta^r$. Multiplication gives $\gamma_j^{rc} = \gamma_j^c \mu_j^{rc} = (\beta_j^c / \sum_k \beta_k^c) \delta_j^r$, i.e. a constant.

A.3.2 Equilibrium condition

As already stated in the text the employment rates are given by $E_S^r = \frac{1}{h_S^r} \sum_{c=1}^C \sum_{i=1}^N \frac{\gamma_i^{rc}(\epsilon^{rc}Y^c)}{p_i^r} \tilde{a}_{iS}^r$ and $E_L^r = \frac{1}{h_S^r} h^r \sum_{c=1}^C \sum_{i=1}^N \frac{\gamma_i^{rc}(\epsilon^{rc}Y^c)}{p_i^r} \tilde{a}_{iL}^r$, respectively. For trading economies a further condition is given by the balance of payments equilibrium. The balance of payments (BoP^{rc}) for a country pair is the value of exports of country r to country c minus the value of imports of country c from country r (i.e. the net exports of country r). Thus the BoP between countries r and c is given by $BoP^{rc} = \sum_{j=1}^N \epsilon^{rc}\gamma_j^{rc}Y^c - \sum_{j=1}^N \gamma_j^{cr} - Y^r \sum_{j=1}^N \gamma_j^{cr} - Y^r \sum_{j=1}^N \gamma_j^{cr}$ which is here expressed in currency of country r. (A decrease in ϵ^{rc} is a depreciation of the currency of country c and an appreciation of the currency of country r.) A balance of payments equilibrium requires $BoP^{rc} = 0$ and thus $\epsilon^{rc}Y^c \sum_{j=1}^N \gamma_j^{rc} = Y^r \sum_{j=1}^N \gamma_j^{cr}$ or $\epsilon^{rc} = \frac{Y^r \sum_{j=1}^N \gamma_j^{rc}}{Y^c \sum_{j=1}^N \gamma_j^{rc}}$. An analysis of this international equilibrium which requires $BoP^{rc} = 0$ for all country pairs r, c and $E^r(\omega^r) = 0$ for all countries r with respect to the existence, uniqueness and stability of an equilibrium is not provided here as it would go beyond the scope of this paper. Let us only note the results from numerical simulations which emphasize the assumption of a balance-of-payments condition: First, an overall equilibrium exists for a wide range of parameter values. Second, the results do not change qualitatively when allowing for changes in the exchange rates and relative wage rates in all countries

 $^{^{27}}$ Here again one may use a slightly more general formulation which would allow for country-specific utility functions. However, the analysis then becomes more tedious and thus we stick to this simple case. Further, this is also in line with the recent literature assuming equal preferences for all countries.

to take place; on the other hand, the results do not change qualitatively when allowing for balance-ofpayments surpluses or deficits. Let us finally note that the relationship between exchange rate movements and the relative wage rates are non-linear. In particular, a change in the exchange rate thus also has structural implications (i.e. on relative prices, output and factor prices).

Inserting the balance-of-payments equilibrium condition in the employment rates above the equilibrium condition can be derived (see equation (3.7) in the text). Inserting for expenditure shares, prices and input coefficients, the equilibrium condition becomes

$$\begin{aligned} (\omega^{r})^{-\sigma} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \beta_{i}^{\varsigma} (A_{i}^{r})^{\varphi-1} (\alpha_{iS}^{r})^{\sigma} (a_{iS}^{r})^{\sigma-1} (B_{i}^{r})^{\frac{\sigma-\varphi}{1-\sigma}} \left(\sum_{s} (\epsilon^{ts})^{1-\varphi} (\delta^{s})^{\varphi} (A_{i}^{s})^{\varphi-1} (B_{i}^{r})^{\frac{1-\varphi}{1-\sigma}} \right)^{-\varsigma} \\ &= \\ h^{r} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \beta_{i}^{\varsigma} (A_{i}^{r})^{\varphi-1} (\alpha_{iL}^{r})^{\sigma} (a_{iL}^{r})^{\sigma-1} (B_{i}^{r})^{\frac{\sigma-\varphi}{1-\sigma}} \left(\sum_{s} (\epsilon^{ts})^{1-\varphi} (\delta^{s})^{\varphi} (A_{i}^{s})^{\varphi-1} (B_{i}^{r})^{\frac{1-\varphi}{1-\sigma}} \right)^{-\varsigma} \end{aligned}$$

For changes in A_k^r or A_k^c the same analysis applies as for the integrated economy with $\varsigma > 1$. Thus we only have to consider changes in the skill-augmenting parameters a_{kS}^r or a_{kS}^c .

A.3.3 Changes in the factor-augmenting parameters

We here only show the most important steps in deriving the conditions with respect to the parameter a_{kS} . The calculations for changes in total factor productivity growth are similar. We have to distinguish whether technical change is taking place in the domestic or a foreign economy.

DOMESTIC ECONOMY: Taking the first derivative with respect to a_{kS}^r , using the condition for a rising relative wage rate and simplifying yields

$$\theta_k \left[(\sigma - 1) + (\varphi - \sigma) \theta_{kS}^r - \varsigma(\varphi - 1) \theta_{kS}^r \mu_k^{rr} \right] > \omega^r h^r \left[(\varphi - \sigma) \theta_{kS}^r - \varsigma(\varphi - 1) \theta_{kS}^r \mu_k^{rr} \right].$$

Dividing this expression by θ_{kS}^r and using $\theta_k^r/\theta_{kS}^r = \theta_k^r + 1$ (note that $0 < \theta_{kz} < 1$) yields

$$(\sigma-1) + \theta_k^r[(\varphi-1) - \varsigma(\varphi-1)\mu_k^{rr}] > \omega^r h^r[(\varphi-\sigma) - \varsigma(\varphi-1)\mu_k^{rr}].$$

Using the definition of $\tilde{\varsigma} := \varphi - \varsigma \mu_k^{rr}(\varphi - 1)$ gives the condition stated in the text. For a change in total factor productivity A_k the expression becomes $\theta_k^r[(\varphi - 1) - \varsigma(\varphi - 1)\mu_k^{rr}] > \omega^r h^r[(\varphi - 1) - \varsigma(\varphi - 1)\mu_k^{rr}]$. This is a special case of the former expression as under $\sigma = 1$ a change in the skill-augmenting parameter is Hicks neutral. Again using the definition of $\tilde{\varsigma}$ yields the condition.

FOREIGN ECONOMY: Finally, let us consider the case of skill-augmenting innovation taking place in sector k of foreign country c. Taking the first derivative with respect to a_{kS}^c and simplifying yields

$$(\omega^{r})^{-\sigma}(\alpha_{kS}^{r})^{\sigma}(a_{kS}^{r})^{\sigma-1}(1-\varphi) > h^{r}(\alpha_{kL}^{r})^{\sigma}(a_{kL}^{r})^{\sigma-1}(1-\varphi).$$

Using the assumption $\varphi > 1$ and the definition of θ_k yields

$$\theta_k^r < \omega^r h^r.$$

References

Acemoglu, D. (2002a). Directed technical change. Review of Economic Studies 69, 781-809.

- Acemoglu, D. (2002b). Technical change, inequality and the labour market. Journal of Economic Literature XL(1), 7–72.
- Davis, D. (1998). Technology, unemployment, and relative wages in a global economy. European Economic Review 42, 1613–1633.
- Dinopolous, E., C. Syropolous, and B. Xu (2001). Intra-industry trade and wage-income inequality. Working Paper, University of Florida.
- Dixit, A. and V. Norman (1980). *Theory of International Trade*. Cambridge, GB: Cambridge University Press.
- Dornbusch, R., S. Fischer, and P. Samuelson (1977). Comparative advantage, trade, and payments in a Ricardian model with a continuum of goods. *Economic Journal* 67, 823–839.
- Dornbusch, R., S. Fischer, and P. Samuelson (1980). Heckscher-Ohlin trade theory with a continuum of goods. *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 95, 203–224.
- Feenstra, R. and G. Hanson (2001). Global production sharing and rising inequality: A survey of trade and wages. NBER Working Paper 8372.
- Findlay, R. and H. Grubert (1959). Factor intensities, technological progress, and the terms of trade. Oxford Economic Papers 11, 111–121.
- Harrod, R. (1942). Toward a Dynamic Economics: Some Recent Developments of Economic Theory and their Application to Policy. London: Macmillan.
- Haskel, J. and M. Slaughter (2002). Does the sector bias of skill-biased technical change explain changing skill premia? *European Economic Review* 46, 1757–1783.
- Hicks, J. (1932). The Theory of Wages. London: Macmillan.
- Krugman, P. (2000). Technology, trade, and factor prices. Journal of International Economics 50, 51–71.
- Landesmann, M. and R. Stehrer (2001). Convergence patterns and switchovers in comparative advantage. Structural Change and Economic Dynamics 12, 399–423.
- Leamer, E. (1998). In search of Stolper-Samuelson linkages between international trade and lower wages. In S. Collins (Ed.), *Imports, Exports, and the American Worker*. Brookings Institution, Washington, DC.
- Neary, J. (2003). Globalization and market structure. *Journal of the European Economic Association 1*, 245–271.
- Robinson, J. (1938). The classification of invention. Review of Economic Studies 5, 139–142.

- Romalis, J. (2004). Factor proportions and the structure of commodity trade. American Economic Review 94(1), 67–97.
- Stehrer, R. and J. Woerz (2003). Technological convergence and trade patterns. Weltwirtschaftliches Archiv/Review of World Economics 139(2), 1–28.
- Trefler, D. (1993). International factor price differences: Leontief was right! Journal of Political Economy 101(6), 961–987.
- Uzawa, H. (1961). Neutral inventions and the stability of growth equilibrium. *Review of Economic Studies 28*, 117–124.
- Wood, A. (1997). North-South Trade: Employment and Inequality. Changing Fortunes in a Skill-Driven World. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Xu, B. (2001). Factor bias, sector bias, and the effects of technical progress on relative factor prices. Journal of International Economics 54, 5–25.
- Zhu, S. and D. Trefler (2005). Trade and inequality in developing countries: A general equilibrium analysis. *Journal of International Economics* 65(1), 21–48.

Short list of the most recent wiiw publications

For current updates and summaries see also wiiw's website at www.wiiw.ac.at

The Effects of Factor- and Sector-biased Technical Change Revisited

by Robert Stehrer wiw Working Papers, No. 35, September 2005 24 pages including 2 Tables and 3 Figures hardcopy: EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

Industry Patterns in Output, FDI and Trade: A regional comparison of CEECs with OECD and East Asian countries

by Julia Wörz wiiw Statistical Reports, No. 2, September 2005 62 pages including 18 Tables and 19 Figures hardcopy: EUR 22.00 (PDF: EUR 20.00)

The Vienna Institute Monthly Report 8-9/05

edited by Leon Podkaminer

- Convergence and labour demand: employment projections for the new EU member states up to 2012
- Sectoral structures and linkages in selected new and old EU member states
- Balkan Free Trade Agreements seem to work
- Returning from the blind alley: three proposals to reform the EU budget
- Selected monthly data on the economic situation in ten transition countries, 2004-2005
- Guide to wiiw statistical services on Central, East and Southeast Europe, Russia and Ukraine

wiiw, August-September 2005

35 pages including 21 Tables and 2 Figures

(exclusively for subscribers to the wiiw Service Package)

Employment Effects of Foreign Direct Investment in Central and Eastern Europe

by Gábor Hunya and Ingo Geishecker wiiw Research Reports, No. 321, August 2005 33 pages including 11 Tables and 2 Figures hardcopy: EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

Macedonia: Search for Stability without Growth

by Vladimir Gligorov and Silvana Mojsovska wiiw Current Analysis and Country Profiles, No. 22, July 2005 64 pages including 41 Tables and 7 Figures hardcopy: EUR 70.00 (PDF: EUR 65.00)

Back from the Peak, Growth in Transition Countries Returns to Standard Rate of Catching-up

by Leon Podkaminer, Gábor Hunya et al.

wiiw Research Reports, No. 320, July 2005 (special issue on economic prospects for Central, East and Southeast Europe; covering Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Croatia, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Macedonia, Poland, Romania, Russia, Serbia and Montenegro, Slovakia, Slovenia, Ukraine, Turkey, and China) 108 pages including 52 Tables and 11 Figures hardcopy: EUR 70.00 (PDF: EUR 65.00)

The Vienna Institute Monthly Report 7/05

edited by Leon Podkaminer

- The land market in the new EU member states
- One year of EU enlargement: trade prospects from the Austrian perspective
- Notes on politics in a disenchanted world: on the centenary of 'The Protestant Ethic and the Spirit of Capitalism'
- Selected monthly data on the economic situation in ten transition countries, 2004-2005

Guide to wiiw statistical services on Central, East and Southeast Europe, Russia and Ukraine wiiw, July 2005

29 pages including 18 Tables and 4 Figures

(exclusively for subscribers to the wiiw Service Package)

Regional Employment Patterns and Prospective Developments in the New EU Member States

by Roman Römisch and Terry Ward wiiw Research Reports, No. 319, June 2005 63 pages including 20 Tables, 4 Figures and 2 Maps hardcopy: EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

The Vienna Institute Monthly Report 6/05

edited by Leon Podkaminer

- Regional employment patterns and prospective developments in the new EU member states
- A difficult birth: the EU's financial perspective for 2007-2013
- FDI trends in 2004-2005: opportunities for acquisition and outsourcing
- Announcement: New wiiw Database on Foreign Direct investment
- Selected monthly data on the economic situation in ten transition countries, 2004-2005
- Guide to wiiw statistical services on Central, East and Southeast Europe, Russia and Ukraine wiiw, June 2005

31 pages including 13 Tables, 1 Figure and 1 Map (exclusively for subscribers to the wiiw Service Package)

wiiw Database on Foreign Direct Investment in Central, East and Southeast Europe: Opportunities for Acquisition and Outsourcing

by Gábor Hunya (concept and analysis) and Monika Schwarzhappel (database and layout) wiiw, Vienna, May 2005 89 pages including 70 Tables

hardcopy: EUR 70.00 (PDF: EUR 65.00), CD-ROM (including hardcopy): EUR 145.00

Unterschiedliche Einflüsse beschleunigen Wachstum in den MOEL

by Vasily Astrov

wiiw Research Papers in German language, May 2005 (reprinted from: *WIFO-Monatsberichte*, Vol. 78, No. 5, May 2005) 19 pages including 10 Tables and 4 Figures hardcopy: EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

The New EU Member States and Austria: Economic Developments in the First Year of Accession

by Peter Havlik et al. *wiiw Research Reports*, No. 318, May 2005 48 pages including 18 Tables and 14 Figures hardcopy: EUR 22.00 (PDF: EUR 20.00)

The Vienna Institute Monthly Report 5/05

edited by Leon Podkaminer

- Measuring the corporate tax burden
- Productivity catching-up and labour demand: employment projections for NMS and CC-2
- The European Union effect
- Selected monthly data on the economic situation in ten transition countries, 2003-2005
- Guide to wiiw statistical services on Central and Eastern Europe, Russia and Ukraine

wiiw, May 2005

35 pages including 14 Tables and 6 Figures (exclusively for subscribers to the wiiw Service Package)

Household Tax Compliance in Albania

by Edward Christie and Mario Holzner *wiiw Research Reports*, No. 316, April 2005 26 pages including 14 Tables and 2 Figures hardcopy: EUR 22.00 (PDF: EUR 20.00)

Scenarios for the Financial Redistribution across Member States in the European Union in 2007-2013

by Sándor Richter wiiw Research Reports, No. 317, April 2005 131 pages including 34 Tables and 4 Figures hardcopy: EUR 22.00 (PDF: EUR 20.00)

Employment, Education and Occupation Structures: A Framework for Forecasting by Robert Stehrer

wiw Research Reports, No. 315, April 2005 94 pages including 33 Tables and 14 Figures hardcopy: EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

Sectoral Productivity, Demand, and Terms of Trade: What Drives the Real Appreciation of the East European Currencies?

by Vasily Astrov *wiiw Working Papers*, No. 34, April 2005 (Reprint from: *Ethical Interpretations of Post-Communist Transition Economics and Politics in Europe*, ed. by Bruno S. Sergi and William T. Bagatelas, Iura Edition, Bratislava, March 2005, pp. 167-199) 33 pages including 4 Tables hardcopy: EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

Turkey: Macroeconomic Vulnerability, Competitiveness and the Labour Market

by Josef Pöschl, Hermine Vidovic, Julia Wörz and Vasily Astrov wiw Current Analysis and Country Profiles, No. 21, April 2005 116 pages including 42 Tables and 26 Figures hardcopy: EUR 70.00 (PDF: EUR 65.00)

The Vienna Institute Monthly Report 4/05

edited by Leon Podkaminer

- The impact of the Doha Round on the new EU members
- East-West integration and adjustments in the labour markets
- Questionnaire on wiiw's Monthly Report and Monthly Statistics
- Selected monthly data on the economic situation in ten transition countries, 2003-2005
- Guide to wiiw statistical services on Central and Eastern Europe, Russia and Ukraine
- wiiw, April 2005

29 pages including 12 Tables and 4 Figures (exclusively for subscribers to the wiiw Service Package)

wiiw Service Package

The Vienna Institute offers to firms and institutions interested in unbiased and up-to-date information on Central, East and Southeast European markets a package of exclusive services and preferential access to its publications and research findings, on the basis of a subscription at an annual fee of EUR 2,000.

This subscription fee entitles to the following package of **Special Services**:

- A free invitation to the Vienna Institute's Spring Seminar, a whole-day event at the end of March, devoted to compelling topics in the economic transformation of the Central and East European region (for subscribers to the wiiw Service Package only).
- Copies of, or online access to, *The Vienna Institute Monthly Report*, a periodical consisting of timely articles summarizing and interpreting the latest economic developments in Central and Eastern Europe and the former Soviet Union. The statistical annex to each *Monthly Report* contains tables of the latest monthly country data. This periodical is not for sale, it can only be obtained in the framework of the wiw Service Package.
- Free copies of the Institute's **Research Reports** (including **Reprints**), **Current Analyses** and Country Profiles and Statistical Reports.
- A free copy of the wiiw Handbook of Statistics, Countries in Transition (published in October/November each year and containing more than 400 tables and figures on the economies of Bulgaria, Croatia, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Macedonia, Poland, Romania, Russia, Serbia and Montenegro, Slovakia, Slovenia and Ukraine)
- Free online access to the wiiw Monthly Database, containing more than 1200 leading indicators monitoring the latest key economic developments in ten Central and East European countries.
- Consulting. The Vienna Institute is pleased to advise subscribers on questions concerning the East European economies or East-West economic relations if the required background research has already been undertaken by the Institute. We regret we have to charge extra for *ad hoc* research.
- Free access to the Institute's specialized economics library and documentation facilities.

Subscribers who wish to purchase wiiw data sets **on CD-ROM** or special publications not included in the wiiw Service Package are granted considerable **price reductions**.

For detailed information about the wiiw Service Package please visit wiiw's website at www.wiiw.ac.at

To The Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies Oppolzergasse 6 A-1010 Vienna

O Please forward more detailed information about the Vienna Institute's Service Package

O Please forward a complete list of the Vienna Institute's publications to the following address

Please enter me for

 1 yearly subscription of *Research Reports* (including *Reprints*) at a price of EUR 225.00 (within Austria), EUR 250.00 (Europe) and EUR 265.00 (overseas) respectively

Please forward

0	the following issue of Research Reports
0	the following issue of Current Analyses and Country Profiles
0	the following issue of Working Papers
0	the following issue of Statistical Reports
0	the following issue of Research Papers in German language
0	the following issue of Industry Studies
0	the following issue of Structural Reports
0	the following issue of wiiw Database on Foreign Direct Investment
0	the following issue of wilw Handbook of Statistics

Name		
Address		
Telephone	Fax	E-mail
Date		Signature

Herausgeber, Verleger, Eigentümer und Hersteller:

Verein "Wiener Institut für Internationale Wirtschaftsvergleiche" (wiiw),
Wien 1, Oppolzergasse 6Postanschrift:A-1010 Wien, Oppolzergasse 6, Tel: [+431] 533 66 10, Telefax: [+431] 533 66 10 50Internet Homepage:www.wiiw.ac.atNachdruck nur auszugsweise und mit genauer Quellenangabe gestattet.P.b.b. Verlagspostamt 1010 Wien